
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
3:00pm  Guests Arrive 
 
3:05pm AGM Welcome and Introduction   CEO 
  Welcome to Country     
  Introduce Chair 
  Open meeting and receive Apologies   Chair 
 
3:15pm Confirmation of previous Minutes   Chair 
  Presentation of Chairperson’s Report 
 
3:25pm Presentation of Financial Statement   Treasurer 
 
3:35pm Presentation of the Maternal and Child  Director Clinical Services/Nursing 

Sleep and Settling Project      
 
3:45pm Staff Length of Service Awards   CEO 
  Tweddle 2020 Values Award 
 
4:00pm Close       CEO 
   
 
 

All are welcome to stay for refreshments. 

100th Annual General Meeting 
24th February 2021 

3:00 – 4:00pm 
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99th ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

Wednesday 20th November 2019 at 3.00pm 
Conference Centre, Brunning Cottage 
53 Adelaide Street, Footscray   3011 

MINUTES 

1. OPENING OF THE MEETING 

Ms O’Brien welcomed all in attendance and said that we were honoured to have Aunty Di Kerr 
in attendance to open the meeting with a Welcome to Country. 

Aunty Di proceeded with a Welcome to Country and said that she would like to encourage 
everyone present to look after each other, walk in harmony and live together helping our young 
to follow us. 

She acknowledged the importance of Tweddle and the work being done here as our babies are 
our future leaders and Tweddle is laying the groundwork for our young. 

Ms O’Brien thanked Aunty Di for attending our AGM and presented her with a small gift of 
appreciation. 

Ms O’Brien acknowledged staff, donors and the Department of Health and Human Services for 
their ongoing support of Tweddle.  

She went on to acknowledge that our AGM takes place on World Children’s Day and the 30th 
anniversary of the Convention on the Rights of the Child. 

Ms O’Brien also said we would be hearing from our Guest Speaker, Mr Peter Ewer, who was 
previously the Regional Director of the Office of Corrections with the Department of Justice and 
Regulation. 

She said this is an exciting time for Tweddle with our centenary looming and we are now in the 
process of planning a number of exciting events and projects commemorating this special time. 

She said that we are also excited that our refurbishment plans are finally progressing to 
something more concrete. 

Ms O’Brien then unveiled an image of our Centenary logo and presented an excerpt of our 
Tweddle2020 video, from 100 Years to 1000 Days. 

Following the viewing of the video, Ms O’Brien said that later in our meeting, we will be 
inducting a new Life Governor to our honoured list of Life Governors who have made a 
significant contribution to Victorian families through their work with Tweddle. 

Ms O’Brien then handed over to Ms Whitmore, Chairperson of the Board who formally declared 
the 99th Annual General Meeting open. 

Ms Whitmore also acknowledged the traditional owners of the land upon which the AGM was 
conducted and paid her respects to the Wurundjeri people and their elders past, present and 
future.  She acknowledged our special guests, including members of our funding bodies, partner 
agencies and Tweddle Board members. 

PRESENT 
 
Ms Doris Whitmore (Tweddle Chairperson) Dr Leanne Beagley (Tweddle Deputy Chair) 
Ms Jennifer Lang (Treasurer) 
Ms Annette Vickery (Tweddle Board) 

Ms Katerina Angelopoulos (Tweddle Board) 
Ms Melanie Telford (Tweddle Board) 

Ms Megan Morris (DHHS) Mr Jim Hevey (Guest) 
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Mr Peter Ewer (Guest Speaker)  Ms Catherine Allison (Anglicare) 
Ms Rosalie Flynn (Tweddle Board) 
Dr van Vliet (Tweddle Board) 

Ms Cath Black (Consultant) 
Dr Nicole Milburn (Guest) 

Dr Tam Nguyen (Tweddle Board) Mr Paul Hede (Hede Architects) 
Dr Raj Khillan (Tweddle Board) Mr Andrew Jaworski (Tweddle Board) 
Ms Carla De Campo (Tweddle Board) Ms Liz O’Dea (Tweddle) 
Ms Laura Kelly (Tweddle) Ms Lauren Doig (Tweddle) 
Mr Andi Jones (Tweddle) Ms Milinda Steve (Tweddle) 
Ms Kirsty Evans (Tweddle) Ms Mary Spaull (Tweddle) 
Ms Le Ann Williams (Tweddle) Ms Denise Dunstan (Tweddle) 
Ms Beverley Allan (Tweddle) Ms Barb Conroy (Tweddle) 
Ms Amanda Damian (Tweddle) Ms Pat Gauthier  (Tweddle) 
Mr Vince Di Stefano (Tweddle) Ms Chloe Anderson (Tweddle) 
Ms Sarah Auletta (Tweddle) Ms Simonette Soto (Tweddle) 
Ms Leonie Cartan (Tweddle) Ms Hayley Vella (Tweddle) 
Ms Tracy Dreier (Tweddle) Ms Kerrie Gottliebsen (Tweddle) 
Ms Eileen Milner (Tweddle) Ms Catherine Fisher (Tweddle) 
Ms Alysha Holmes (Tweddle) Ms Lesley Howat (Tweddle) 
Ms Liane Rohr (Tweddle) Ms Pina Pisani (Tweddle) 
Ms Vicki Matheson (Tweddle)  

2. APOLOGIES 

Ms Julie Borninkhof (Panda) Ms Kim Bertino (ECMS) 
Mr Peter Gordon (Western Bulldogs) Mr Ameet Bains (Western Bulldogs) 
Ms Kerri McEgan (O’Connell Family Centre) Ms Miranda Bain (Supreme Court of 

Victoria) 
Ms Lisa Griffiths (OZChild) Mr Paul Smith (DHHS West Division) 
Ms Jo Norton (Friends of Tweddle) Ms Jo Chambers (DHHS) 
Mr Agiri Alisandratos (DHHS) Ms Sue Wilson (Centre for Excellence) 
Ms Marie Howard (Past Tweddle Board Member) Ms Diana Nelson (Past Tweddle Board 

Member) 
Ms Helen Rowe (Equity Trustees) Ms Lin (Helen MacPherson Smith Trust) 
Minister Ben Carroll  Minister Natalie Hutchins 
Minister Tim Pallas Hon Luke Donnellan 
Lord Mayor Sally Capp (Melbourne City Council) Ms Helen Morrissey (City of Brimbank) 
Mr Steven Lambert (Moonee Valley City Council) Ms Maureen Dawson-Smith (Tweddle 

Foundation) 
Ms Catina Adams (Latrobe University) Dr Leanne Sheeran (RMIT) 
Ms Wendy Lewis (Collier Charitable Trust) Mr Troy Eley (City of Wyndham) 
Mr Craig Rowley (Campaigner) Ms Ann Hindell (City of Whittlesea) 
Ms Sue Couper (Tweddle Foundation) Ms Kim Little (DET) 

 
Ms Whitmore informed everyone in attendance a list of apologies could be obtained from Ms 
Vicki Matheson. 
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3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES 
Ms Whitmore presented the following motion: 

Motion: 

That the minutes of the 98th Annual General Meeting (2018-2019) held on Wednesday 
28th November 2018 be confirmed and adopted as a true and accurate reflection  
of the meeting. 

Moved:      Ms Angelopoulos    Seconded: Ms Steve 

Carried:  Yes 

4. PRESENTATION OF THE ANNUAL BOARD REPORT 
Ms Whitmore presented Tweddle’s 99th Annual Report. 
 
She thanked the Board Members for their support over the last 12 months and noted that it 
had been invaluable.   

Ms Whitmore offered sincere thanks to our many supporters who, through their contributions, 
allow Tweddle to undertake valuable research and deliver new programs. 

She also said that a special mention needs to be given to Ms Carol MacDonald who 
comprehensively supports the admission process at Tweddle every week and also Ms Jo Norton 
and her team from Friends of Tweddle who continue to improve facilities for our vulnerable 
families. 

Ms Whitmore outlined some of the many achievements by Tweddle over the past 12 months 
including the screening of the Resilience documentary, the Biology of Stress and the Science of 
Hope. 

Ms Whitmore said that we aim to make the most of our approaching centenary as it is 
incumbent on us to ensure we capture the spirit of Tweddle and the gravity of our heritage in 
these celebrations.   

She said that importantly, we will soon build the foundations for another generation of families 
and staff and acknowledged our gratitude to the Andrews Labor Government for their $9M 
redevelopment investment. 

Ms Whitmore stated that Tweddle would not be where they are today without the support of 
passionate local member for Footscray, Ms Katie Hall whose tireless commitment to the local 
community and families in  Melbourne’s West has no doubt helped position Tweddle as a leader 
in Early Parenting support services. 

In the absence of Treasurer Ms Jennifer Lang, Ms Whitmore handed over to Ms Telford to 
present the Annual Financial Report 

5. PRESENTATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
Ms Telford presented the 2018/2019 Annual Financial Report on behalf of the Board. She 
thanked Tweddle supporters for the generous donations and bequests received throughout the 
year.  She noted that for the year ended June 30th 2019, Tweddle had reported a net surplus.   
 
She said that following land and building revaluations conducted by the Valuer General Victoria, 
this had resulted in an increase in the recognized fair value of land and buildings. 
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Motion: 

That the 2018 - 2019 Annual Financial Statements be confirmed and adopted. 

Moved:  Ms Whitmore                Seconded:  Ms Flynn 

Carried: Yes  

 
6. GUEST SPEAKER 

Ms O’Brien introduced our Guest Speaker, Mr Peter Ewer who presented the Breaking the Cycle 
project.  He explained this is a developed investment proposition for Government highlighting 
more efficient ways to invest money into areas of adverse childhood experiences. 

He outlined the three levels of the strategy which includes an expansion statewide of existing 
programs, PASDS and HoPES. This also includes additional resources in accessing Neuro 
psychology services at an earlier point in time along with add on services to families needing 
further follow up after a PASDS program. 

The next level of the strategy was to trial place based programs and innovative court 
arrangements.  The final component was to underpin the strategy with a 10 year  
research project. 

He explained that the next piece of work was to advocate to government representatives, 
Ministers and MPs regarding this strategy and that the Board would be undertaking this work 
in the near future.  

7. LIFE GOVERNOR INDUCTION 

Ms Whitmore stated that today we are proud to induct Dr Nicole Milburn to the honourable list 
of Tweddle’s Life Governors. 

Ms Whitmore described the position of Life Governor and said that following an analysis of Dr 
Milburn’s contribution and impact against criteria in Tweddle’s Bylaws, there was 
overwhelming evidence that Dr Milburn exceeded in all areas. 

Dr Milburn thanked Ms Whitmore and said that she was proud to be associated with Tweddle 
and the work they continued to do with babies and families. 

 

8. STAFF AWARDS 

Ms O’Brien ended the formal component of the AGM and moved to the Staff Service Awards.  
Ms O’Brien presented staff service awards including: 
 
5 Year Service Awards        
Ms Stone  Ms Doig Ms Currie Ms Whitby  Ms Evanson  
 
10 Year Service Awards 
Ms Kutlesovska 
 
21 Year Service Award 
Ms Stockdale 

  



                                              

Page 5 of 5 
 

 

Staff Innovation Grant 

Ms O’Brien stated that this year, Tweddle had offered staff the opportunity to apply for a one-
off grant to better resource our innovative ideas. 

Funding of up to $5,000 was offered for an innovation project that supports the development 
and implementation of new ideas relating to resources, services or models, etc. to better meet 
community needs. 

Three submissions were received and assessed by a panel through a criteria rating. 

Ms O’Brien advised that the panel had chosen two projects with the third being advised that 
with further work, this submission could be considered in the future. 

The winners were: 

1. A Message From My Child – PASDS Team 
2. Play in The Outdoor Space 

Ms O’Brien congratulated the winners on their achievement. 
 

9. CLOSING 
 
Ms Whitmore formally thanked everyone attending today’s AGM and invited them to watch 
another snip from our centenary video before closing the meeting at 4.00pm. 
 
She invited all guests to remain for light refreshments. 





Our Vision
Secure babies   
Strong families   
Safe communities

Tweddle Values
 C Collaboration
 A Accountability
 R Respect
 E Engagement

About Tweddle

Tweddle Child and Family Health Service (Tweddle) is 
a statewide early intervention and prevention health 
service. Tweddle offers interventions to babies, toddlers 
and their families to promote the preservation, reunification 
and restoration of health and wellbeing where there is 
distress and disruption in the infant/parent relationship. 

Tweddle has developed and evolved in response 
to community needs throughout its 100 year history. 
Tweddle focuses on health, which is fundamental to 
wellbeing. Tweddle sees good health and wellbeing 
as the foundations of resourceful families, who are well 
connected to and within their communities. 
 
Parents, children and families are vulnerable to distress 
and this vulnerability is on a continuum. 

Our Purpose

3,528
mums, dads, babies &
toddlers attending 
Residential, In-Home, 
HoPES, PASDS and
Day Stay programs
(includes Telehealth)

Referrals to Tweddle 
Maternal & Child Health

General Practice/Doctors

Aboriginal Services, Child FIRST, 
Child Protection, Family Violence 
Services, Mental Health Services 
and Disability Services

61%

19%

20%

1

Tweddle understands 
that this vulnerability may: 

occur at any time, for any family, 
depending on the balance of stressors 
applied and resources and supports 
available 

be increased when parents experience 
high levels of stressors at times when 
they have depleted resources and
limited supports 

be reduced when parents are helped 
to build their resources and their supports 
in order to manage stressors and the 
impact on themselves and their children.

Contents
  1  About Tweddle
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 3  Tweddle Board Members

 4  Leadership Report
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10 Community Programs 
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16 Research, Innovation and Telehealth

17 Corporate Report
        Finance, IT and Infrastructure 

18   Communications & Community,
 Life Governors  

19 Our People and Professional Development
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Tweddle Board members also attend subcommittee meetings as well as working groups on a needs basis. These include:
  Executive Governance & Remuneration    Property & Redevelopment    Lobbying & Advocacy        

Meetings
AttendedBoard Member Position Professional Affiliation

Tweddle Board Members

Ms Doris Whitmore
BBus(Acc), MBA, 

FCPA, GAICD

Ms Melanie Telford 
BCom/BA, 

GDipAppFinInv 

Ms Jennifer Lang 
FCPA, CFTP(Snr), 

FAICD

Assoc Professor 
Tam Nguyen  

PhD, MBA, GradDipSono, 
BSc/BE(Bioeng), FRSPH, FAIM, 

MAICD 

Dr Leanne Beagley 
PhD, PGDipFamTher, 
BAppScOT, MBusL, 

GAICD

Ms Carla De Campo 
BA

Ms Rosalie Flynn 
BA, PGDipLib, 

PGDipOrgBeh, MBus 

Ms Annette Vickery 
B.Comm, GAICD  

Dr Raj Khillan 
MBBS, MD, FRCPCH 

(UK), FRACP

Ms Katerina Angelopoulos
BSW, AssocDipWelStuds  

Dr Catherine van Vliet 
PhD, BSc(Hons), GDipEd  

Mr Andrew Jaworski
Grad Dip Law (Commercial) 

Grad Cert TMLP
LLB (Hons) BScOptom 
AFCHSM CIPT MAICD

Doris has held executive positions in several non-for-profit (NFP) 
organisations combining program strategy, design and 

implementation, governance and compliance.

A finance professional, Melanie brings to the Tweddle Board 
experience in financial management, business partnering 

and process improvement.

Jenny’s career encompasses executive and management 
roles at ASX listed corporates, extending into the disciplines 

of Treasury and Procurement, giving her broad strategy, 
governance and finance expertise. 

A research executive with broad experience in clinical 
trials strategy and governance, research development and 
innovation. Tam holds adjunct and honorary positions with 

Melbourne Medical School, Monash School of Public Health 
and Preventative Medicine, and RMIT University.

CEO, Western Victoria Primary Health Network, Board Director at 
Eating Disorders Victoria (Vice President) and the Western Alliance 
Academic Health Science Centre, Chair - Victorian Public Health 

Network Alliance, and Adjunct Associate Professor at Deakin 
University. Leanne resigned from the Tweddle Board in February 

2020 to take up a role as CEO of Mental Health Australia.

Carla is an experienced communications professional 
with extensive government, advocacy, industrial and 

policy expertise.

A health and community services sectors consultant with expertise 
in workforce planning, organisation behaviour, Human Resource 
Managment (HRM) and Human Resource Development (HRD.)

Annette is an Aboriginal woman from Gunditjmara, in Western 
Victoria, and lives and works with pride and respect on the 
land of the people of the Kulin nations. She brings extensive 

experience in the public and private sector, community 
and stakeholder engagement, organisational capability and 

capacity building and change management. 

Director of Western Specialist Centre, and Senior Paediatrician 
with Western Health and Mercy Health, Raj has 25 years of 

paediatrics experience.  

Katerina has extensive background in corporate management, health 
issues planning, human resources and community engagement. 
Katerina is currently on the Merri Health Board and is part of the 

Bendigo Health and the Professional Services Review Determining 
Authority. She is passionate about creating health settings that enable 
continuity of care for clients and has a reputation for effective advocacy 

and enabling community participation in policy development.

Catherine brings to the Board strong research, management and 
communication skills from nearly two decades running scientific 
research programs at the University of Melbourne and Monash 

University. She is a mother and former client of Tweddle. 

A solicitor with over 15 years experience in corporate and commercial 
law with a focus on the health and technology sector. As a father of 

young twins, Andrew has a strong interest in support services for infants 
and their families and, with a clinical and research background prior 

to studying law, maintains a keen interest in public health.

Board Chair

Finance Audit &
 Risk Committee

Board Treasurer
Chair Finance 

Audit & Risk 
Committee

Board Deputy 
Chair; Acting 
Chair Clinical 
Governance 
Committee

Chair Clinical 
Governance
Committee 
(resigned 

February 2020)

Board Deputy 
Chair; Clinical 
Governance
 Committee 

Finance Audit & 
Risk Committee

Finance Audit &
Risk Committee

Clinical 
Governance
Committee

Clinical 
Governance 
Committee

Clinical 
Governance 
Committee

Clinical 
Governance 
Committee

6/6

6/6

6/6

6/6

4/4

3/6

6/6

5/6

6/6

5/6

6/6

6/6

A key partnership with the Centre for Excellence in 
Child and Family Welfare (CFECFW) to deliver Victoria’s 
nursing, parenting and health practitioners training in the 
latest evidence based approaches to sleep and settling. 

HoPES Program receives recurrent funding

Andrews Labor Government - 
Tweddle redevelopment plans progress

Working Out Dads - randomised controlled trial (RCT) 
research grant announced with thanks to Associate 
Professor Rebecca Giallo and the Murdoch Children’s 
Research institute

Tweddle embeds facilitated Play Practitioners into 
the Residential Program 

A pilot evaluation of Tweddle’s ten day PASDS 
commenced in partnership with the Murdoch Children’s 
Research Institute and funded by a Learning System Grant

Tweddle launches on-site dads program ‘Working Out 
Parenting’ with thanks to the Collier Charitable Fund

Tweddle launches a Centenary Facebook page

Tweddle launches MyTime in Tarneit and Avondale Heights

Tweddle launches Playsteps in Brimbank with thanks 
to Brimbank Communities for Children

Launch of Tweddle’s Reconciliation Action Plan

Tweddle earns ACHS Accreditation

Tweddle pivots to telehealth in response to COVID-19 
Pandemic

Therapy dog Ajay joins Tweddle

 

Highlights 2019-2020

Our Services

As a government-funded early 
parenting centre, Tweddle provides 
a range of services to families with 
babies and toddlers with a focus 
on the first 1000 days (0-2 years). 
Services are delivered in partnership 
with other organisations and 
directly in the community.

Assessment & Intake Service 

Residential Parenting Program 

Parenting Assessment and Skill Development 
Service for Child Protection clients (PASDS) 

Psychology support services and family therapy 

Childbirth Education Program 

Community-based Day Stay Programs 

In-Home Support Service 

MyTime support for parents and carers of 
children with special needs 

Prison Program 

Lactation Support 

Home Parenting Education Support Program 
(HoPES) 

Working Out Dads 

Telehealth
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       We often use words like 
   strange and unprecedented 

times to describe 2020 and that indeed 
is true. I cannot help and reflect on the fact that  

 Tweddle began in the early years of another pandemic 
– the Spanish flu. In the year of our Centenary, we are 
experiencing another pandemic with COVID-19 and we 
continue to carry on the essential work of caring for the 
health of babies, toddlers and their families. As we did a 
century ago.

Tweddle owes its existence today to four pioneering 
individuals. Dr John Springthorpe, Sister Maud Primrose, 
and Mr James Hume-Cook together they shared a 
desire to arrest the burgeoning rates of infant mortality 
devastating Victorian families. 

In September 1920 they initiated The Society for the 
Health of Women and Children of Victoria. The society 
lobbied businessman Mr Joseph Thornton Tweddle and 
he subsequently financed their vision. 

The Footscray Council later donated land on which 
to build the Tweddle Hospital for Babies and School of 
Mothercraft. Hundreds of stakeholders would carry their 
vision forward over ensuing decades, including significant 
support from the Angliss and Gibson families.

I think that these early visionaries would be proud of 
their legacy. 100 years later Tweddle remains custodian 
of their vision. 

The Tweddle team was well advanced in planning 
celebrations when the COVID-19 pandemic forced the 
Tweddle Board to make the difficult decision to delay 
our Centenary celebrations until 2020/2021. I want to 
thank all those who have put in so much time and effort 
in the planning. In acknowledgement of this significant 
milestone this Annual Report includes a Centenary 
dedication page and we look forward to the official 
Centenary Annual Report in 2020/21.

Despite the torrent of challenges the year has brought, 
there have been significant achievements. We are 
particularly grateful to have had the opportunity to 
continue uninterrupted service delivery throughout the 
pandemic, which included a move to telehealth, digital 
health and online education. I take this opportunity to 
acknowledge particularly those team members who have 
adapted quickly so we can continue to deliver services.

The Board, management and staff would like to 
acknowledge the Department of Health and Human 
Services. We extend our gratitude to the Minister for 
Health, Jenny Mikakos MP.

We thank the Minister for Child Protection Luke 
Donnellan and the Minister for Mental Health, Martin 
Foley for their tireless commitment to vulnerable families. 
The ongoing support of local Member for Footscray, 
Ms Katie Hall MP is also greatly appreciated. 

This year Tweddle proceeded with our site redevelopment, 
part of the Andrews Labor Government state-wide 
Early Parenting Centre expansion strategy. With over 
300 families on our waiting list, increased capacity for 
struggling families is an important public health priority. 
We look forward to working with the Department of 
Health and Human Services Building Authority to see the 
plans come to fruition.    

With over 250 babies born each week in Melbourne’s 
west, and nearly 80,000 babies born each year 
statewide, the expansion of services like Tweddle’s is 
even more critical. We are thankful for this investment.

After five years delivering the Working Out Dads 
program, we were delighted to hear of further 
investment into the health of dads. The Million Minds 
Mission, part of the Commonwealth Government 
Medical Research Future Fund, awarded a randomised 
controlled trial research grant to Associate Professor 
Rebecca Giallo of the Murdoch Children’s Research 

Institute. We look forward 
to collaborating on this project.

We are extremely grateful for every grant and donation 
because they help Tweddle trial new programs, deliver 
research and create social change. 

This year we commenced delivery of a mixed methods 
evaluation of the residential Parenting Assessment and 
Skill Development Service for families receiving child 
protection services. This is in partnership with the 
Murdoch Children’s Research Institute with thanks to a 
Learning Systems Grant, made possible with DHHS funding 
through the OPEN Learning Systems Grants managed 
by the Centre for Excellence for Child & Family Welfare.

We appreciate the support of the William Angliss 
Charitable Fund for the purchase of important 
resources, the Collier Charitable Fund for the Working 
Out Parenting on-site dads group and Wellbeing 
Centre and Public Record Office Victoria for 
contributing to Tweddle’s Centenary Website. 

Brimbank Communities for Children supported our 
delivery of the PlaySteps Program, which despite Stage 2 
pandemic restrictions, made a successful transition 
to an online group. Our annual Children’s Week event 
was delivered in partnership with the Department of 
Education and Training.

Tweddle is honoured to join the reconciliation movement 
with the launch of our Reflect – Reconciliation Action 
Plan (RAP) endorsed by Reconciliation Australia.  
Launching Tweddle’s RAP is an important marker in 

Leadership Report

Ms Jacquie O’Brien
Chief Executive Officer

Ms Doris Whitmore 
Chairperson, Tweddle Board

Tweddle’s commitment and the process of reconciliation. 
As a public hospital, Tweddle uses the Australian Council 
on Healthcare Standards (ACHS) EQuIP membership 
to implement quality improvement and to evaluate 
our performance.  This year Tweddle achieved a 
very positive result with no areas noted as priorities for 
recommendations.  This is testament to our commitment 
to ongoing continuous quality improvement.

We would not be where we are today without 
the governance of the Tweddle Board. This year 
Ms Melanie Telford handed the role of Deputy 
Chair to Associate Professor Dr Tam Nguyen and 
Ms Carla De Campo. I thank them and our Treasurer, 
Ms Jennifer Lang, for their ongoing leadership. 
We farewelled Dr Leanne Beagley, Ms Katerina 
Angelopoulos and Ms Rosalie Flynn. We thank them 
for their years of service. We welcomed Mr Andrew 
Jaworski who works in corporate and commercial law 
with a focus on the health and technology sector. 

Importantly, we thank the team at Tweddle, the 
executive and operational staff at all sites, for their 
dedication, in what has been an extremely challenging 
year for all. Their role supporting the development of 
positive relationships with babies, toddlers and their 
parents is the foundation for resilient families and healthy 
communities. And I want to thank and acknowledge 
Tweddle’s CEO, Ms Jacquie O’Brien for her leadership, 
passion and unwavering dedication.

4 5



5-day Residential Program (It’s all about relationships)

The Assessment & Intake (A&I) team are the 
heartbeat of Tweddle. The staff are often the 
first contact for families who are struggling with 
a range of parenting challenges. Clients are 
triaged by the A&I Coordinator/Duty Worker 
who then provides a thorough risk assessment 
to determine the most appropriate program.

Maintaining the fidelity of triaging services, 
families are assessed holistically on the needs 
and risks of the whole family. Depending 
on the level of need, families are offered a 
program that reflects the intensity of service 
level response required. 

This year, because of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
many challenges were exacerbated by 
families needing to isolate at home and not 
have direct access to usual service provision 
such as Maternal and Child Health visits.

The A&I team triaged families into telephone or 
telehealth consultations, which enabled families 
to receive the much needed help and support 
during these challenging times.

The focus of Tweddle’s Residential Program continues 
to be strengthening attachment, repairing parent/child 
relationships and helping build the confidence and 
capacity of vulnerable parents. 

In August, we farewelled Ms Penny Lyne as Residential 
Services Nurse Unit Manager as she returned to Tasmania 
for family reasons and welcomed Ms Catherine (Cat) Fisher 
to the role. Cat has brought a new energy to the position 
along with her very solid theoretical knowledge base and 
her innovative practice.

The implementation of the Clinical Care Coordinator position 
was an exciting and innovative addition to Tweddle’s 
service pathway. The role enhances the client experience 
from referral through to connected services for ongoing 
care post discharge.  It also ensures that the clinical 
pathway for families with high needs is tailored and includes 
active discharge planning with a wrap around approach.

Over the course of the year, residential staff have 
been busy engaging with a variety of creative projects. 
This has led to innovation in the clinical space that 
supports best practice principles, diversity and inclusion, 
family partnership and promotes the voice of babies 
and toddlers. 

Living into Tweddle’s care objectives, residential staff 
are embedding a trauma-informed approach to work 
culture and now participate in mindfulness sessions at 
the beginning of each shift.  

Providing support and care to infants and babies, 
Tweddle’s psychology service facilitates weekly experiential 
practice sessions involving both infant and caregiver to 
undertake ‘mindfulness of the baby’ through the five senses. 

These sessions focus on observing, learning and noticing 
babies’ individual cues, promoting bonding and attachment 
and understanding babies’ lived experiences. 

Our playroom continues to be a key focus area for 
family therapeutic support and education. Our play 
practitioners provide both one-on-one play and group 
sessions. Increasing parental knowledge of the importance
of age-appropriate play activities helps parents improve 
their child’s cognitive, emotional and physical development.

This year the original 1950s Southern end of the residential 
unit received a much-needed make-over that resulted in 
the provision of a parent sitting room and home-like 
bedrooms. This renovation ensures all families are 
supported in a facility that is welcoming and friendly.

Ajay our Animal Assisted Therapy (AAT) dog continued to 
visit weekly. He provides an opportunity for babies, toddlers, 
pre-schoolers and their parents to explore the development 
of skills such as tone of voice, tolerance and trust. 

Navigating the swells of the COVID-19 pandemic, Tweddle 
provided a rapid response to the changing environment 
through the development and implementation of the 
telehealth model of care. Families experiencing increased 
parening challenges due to social isolation, exacerbated 
mental health symptoms, financial difficulties teamed with 
worries surrounding existing health issues puts vulnerable 
babies and toddlers at increased risk. 

Tweddle’s transition to telehealth (which is a combination 
of telephone & Zoom consultations) focused on the need 
to deliver effective tailored programs in the safety of client 
homes while ensuring babies and toddlers remain at the 
centre of everything we do. 

Residential Program

Assessment 
& Intake  

Includes 
144 Telehealth

 and 
118 In-Home

Families

13
Families

supported 
weekly

      1534 
                  Total funded 
             Residential parents,   
       babies & toddlers

Total funded Residential 
& In-Home Families

581
2018 - 2019

605
2019 - 2020

81%
Total mums and 
dads nominated 

mental health 
difficulties on 
their intake 
admission

 of families 
had 4 or 
more risk
 factors

33%

6 7



PASDS 

Tweddle provides a 10 day residential Parenting 
Assessment and Skill Development Service (PASDS) 
for families referred by the Department of Health and 
Human Services (DHHS). This is a strengths-based, 
child-focused and family-centred program that 
prioritises families from diverse backgrounds. 

The PASDS team has education and experience in the 
fields of early childhood, infant mental health, family 
therapy, midwifery, maternal and child health, mothercraft, 
paediatric, mental health nursing and psychology. 

With an emphasis on family preservation, reunification 
and attachment, an initial parenting competency 
assessment is undertaken over the first few days. This 
assessment enables parents and staff to identify strengths 
and potential areas for growth. In partnership with 
parents, a skills development plan is established and 
enacted. Parents are then supported in their quest 
to provide best practice parent/child interactions, 
strategies to support their child’s development, safety, 
feeding, nutrition, hygiene practices, routines, sleep 
and settling, and knowledge about how to care for 
an unwell child.

Cradle to Kinder 

Tweddle delivers the Cradle to Kinder program in 
partnership with Melbourne City Mission, Kildonan 
Uniting Care, IPC Health Care and Early Childhood 
Management Services (ECMS) in the Brimbank, Melton 
and North East Melbourne areas. Cradle to Kinder is 
a whole-of-family service response commencing at 
pre-birth and provides intensive and long-term key 
worker support, education, information and interventions 
for children until they reach the age of five years. This 
program is able to work alongside young pregnant 
mothers (under 25 years) where a report to Child 
Protection has been received and where there are 

Intensive Family Care Programs

PASDS mums, 
dads, babies 

& toddlers

PASDS Families 
 

57
2018 - 2019

56
2019 - 2020153

2018 - 2019

130
2019 - 2020

HoPES Families 
 

HoPES mums, dads, 
babies & toddlers

82
2018 - 2019

69
2019 - 2020

36
2018 - 2019

30
2019 - 2020

Parenting Skill 
Development & 

Education (PSDE) 

10

8 9

identified vulnerabilities and 
significant concerns about the 
wellbeing of the unborn child. Priority 
access is offered to young mothers who 
are or have been, in out-of-home care, identify 
as Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander women and 
who may have a learning difficulty.

Peer Support Worker 

Tweddle’s Peer Support Worker (PSW) Program 
commenced in 2018 and continued throughout 
2019/20. Our PSW has a lived experience of both 
child and family health services and has a Certificate IV 
in Mental Health Peer Work. Positive feedback from 
clients and staff has contributed to the program’s 
success. The PSW continues to advocate for clients 
and provides timely and accessible information 
regarding their rights and responsibilities. The program 
helped support clients to problem solve and navigate 
the various health and welfare systems. The PSW is able 
to share their own experiences and contribute to the 
development of resources and services. This type of 
relationship provides the scaffolding for the PSW to 
have one-on-one conversations with clients, build trust 
and empowerment and to help set goals.  

Home Parenting Education and 
Support Program (HoPES) 

Tweddle’s Home Parenting Education and Support 
Program changes family’s lives. The HoPES team 
are skilled and caring professionals, dedicated to
interrupting intergenerational trauma. The eight-week 
intensive home visiting program supports family preservation 
and reunification for families with babies and children 
0-5 years. The focus is to preserve and strengthen the 
family unit using a strength-based approach and a 
family partnership model of care. Specialised staff rebuild 
attachments between babies/children and their parents. 
A priority is to build sustainable family-functioning, 

community connectedness and 
connecting families back to culture. The families 
are provided with strategies to support their children and 
protect them from potential re-exposure to trauma (eg 
abuse, neglect, family violence). 

In 2019/20, HoPES funding was extended with thanks to 
the Department of Health and Human Services. 
Tweddle supported a further 36 families in Barwon and 
Footscray. Six additional families have been supported 
through flexible funding in partnership with Barwon Child 
Youth and Families (BCYF). This innovation facilitated the 
delivery of the HoPES Program to vulnerable families not 
under statutory care, providing fair and equitable access 
to intensive parenting support in the home and wider 
community. We are currently evaluating progress and 
hope to maintain this service for families experiencing 
vulnerability and trauma.

Parenting Skill Development 
and Education 

The Parenting Skill Development and Education (PSDE) 
program was developed in response to the COVID-19 
global pandemic. On 16 March 2020, a State of Emergency 

was declared in Victoria which led to the shutdown of 
all non-essential services to slow the spread of COVID-19. 
This included all face-to-face service delivery models 
by Community Service Organisations. 

The PSDE program adhered to the philosophies and 
principles that underpin all Tweddle programs and 
offered the following service:

A six-week service (four weeks intensive and two 
weeks step-down). 

Up to two hours of telehealth (video and where 
required phone) per day and additional text 
messaging to support the education provided.

Education adapted to meet the individual 
needs of the family. This commenced by assessing 
the parental literacy levels, preferred learning 
styles and available technology. 

Tweddle staff aimed to sight the child(ren) upon 
each contact, thus ensuring babies and toddlers 
were kept in regular view of professionals, helping 
to identify any risk issues. 



Day Stay 

Tweddle provides Community Day Stay Programs in 
six locations: Footscray, Geelong, Bacchus Marsh in 
partnership with Djerriwarrh Health Service, Kings Park 
in partnership with Brimbank Council, Mill Park in 
partnership with City of Whittlesea and Terang in 
partnership with Terang & Mortlake Health Service. 

Attending a Day Stay Program provides parents with the 
opportunity to talk about their challenges, meet other 
parents who may be experiencing similar difficulties and 
learn and practise new skills to introduce at home. Tweddle’s 
multidisciplinary team assists parents who may be feeling 
overwhelmed or struggling, to feel more confident in 
managing a range of early parenting challenges. This can 
include an unsettled baby or wakeful toddler, feeding 

Tweddle is grateful to the Minister for 
Mental Health Martin Foley and his 
department for supporting this important 
early intervention and prevention program.  

This funding supports both group and 
individual mental health support.
Tweddle’s Psychologist works over 
6 days per fortnight offering a 
face-to-face consultation and 
referral service for parents attending 
Tweddle’s residential program. 

difficulties or challenging toddler behaviour. All programs 
provide parents with support and education about 
communicating with their child with a focus on the promotion 
of secure attachment and healthy relationships. 

The Kings Park, Geelong, Mill Park and Bacchus Marsh Day 
Stay sites support parents with children up to 12 months 
and our programs in Footscray and Terang provide 
support for parents with children up to age 3.  95.5% of 
families who attended a Day Stay Program felt they had 
increased their skills and/or knowledge and agreed they 
would recommend the program to others.

Tweddle’s Day Stay programs were delivered through 
telehealth and virtual in-home visits following the 
announcement of COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns 
from March 2020.  

Total number of 
Day Stay families 

Geelong/Whittlesea 
Maribyrnong/Brimbank

Total number of 
Day Stay families 

Collaborative 
Terang/Bacchus Marsh

*Includes 187 telehealth *reduced due to COVID

304
2018 - 2019

542
2018 - 2019

*214
2019 - 2020

*583
2019 - 2020

Total Day Stay 
mums, dads, carers,

babies, toddlers  
 

1,925

Community
Programs

Mental Health & Wellbeing Support  

Includes telehealth

373
In-Home 

mums, dads 
& toddlers 

Our Psychologist supported the 
mental health of 97 families through 
our Mental Health & Wellbeing service, 
although significant disruption was 
experienced through the COVID-19 
pandemic interruptions. 

As part of the Mental Health & 
Wellbeing service, clients discuss 
a range of parenting challenges 
which we know can impact 
attachment and infant mental health. 
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In-Home Support & Fee Paying Service 

In-Home visits are provided by experienced health professionals who provide education, practical strategies and support 
with early parenting challenges. The service provides flexible, timely one-on-one parenting support and an opportunity for 
parents to learn and practice new strategies in their own family’s environment.

Government funded In-Home Support packages include two visits, a follow-up call and referral to further community 
support if required. An evaluation showed 100% of families agreed the staff provided them with information and support 
that was easy to understand and they had increased their parenting skills and knowledge. 

The Tweddle In-Home Team also provide private fee paying services. Families are visited in their home, come into Tweddle 
for a one-on-one day stay program or have a private telephone consultation. Due to COVID-19, Tweddle’s In-Home 
program was delivered through virtual consultations using the Zoom platform during the pandemic lock-down period.

Over 40% of clients were diagnosed 
with one or more mental health 
conditions including depression, 
anxiety, exhaustion, trauma and 
adjustment/crisis.  

Disclosures included family violence, 
childhood history of abuse, isolation, 
bonding/attachment issues and 
relationship problems. 57 families 
were referred to one or more 
external supporting agencies. 

Includes Terang/Bacchus Marsh



702 
Childbirth 

education families

Childbirth Education 

Tweddle offers comprehensive childbirth education 
classes in a relaxed, informal atmosphere. Classes are 
facilitated by Tweddle’s dedicated team of midwives 
with additional formal qualifications in the delivery of 
childbirth education. Educators provide a program 
that is interactive, encourages and supports active 
participation in pregnancy, birth and early parenting, 
and empowers participants to make informed choices 
during their pregnancy and birthing experience. 

Tweddle has continued to be part of the Baby Makes 3 
Program which promotes gender equality and respectful 
relationships by building knowledge and skills of first time 
parents to develop gender equitable relationships and 
taking shared responsibility for parenting. 

Tweddle facilitates classes in Footscray and during 
the year, provided classes at the Joan Kirner 
Women’s and Children’s Hospital. Expectant 
parents can choose from classes that run across 
two Wednesday or Thursday evenings or full day 
classes on either a Saturday or a Sunday. 

MyTime

 

MyTime groups are for parents, family and carers of children under 18 years who need a higher level of care. This may 
be because of a developmental delay, disability or a chronic medical condition. MyTime groups are a supportive 
space for parents to feel understood and share ideas and resources.

MyTime families and their children have different abilities and needs. Facilitators work with group members, helping 
families get to know each other and learn more about the services and supports in their area. Play helpers engage 
children (including under school aged siblings), in activities such as singing, drawing and playing so members can 
spend time catching up with one another over a coffee or tea.

MyTime staff have continued to support families who are entering the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS). 
We have worked with the Association for Children with a Disability to support members through NDIS question 
and answer sessions.
 
At the beginning of 2020, the Pascoe Vale group moved back to Avondale Heights and the Laverton group relocated 
to a new Community Hub in Tarneit. We would like to acknowledge local councils for subsidies received to support 
venues for MyTime groups. We were very excited to have the opportunity to facilitate a MyTime Innovation project 
from the Parenting Resource Centre (PRC) to explore ways to develop a supported pathway for MyTime families 
from diverse cultural backgrounds.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, Tweddle continued to provide support to families and the MyTime team quickly 
rallied to deliver a combination of online virtual groups via Zoom and support through email and phone calls to MyTime 
members.  Play helpers were integral in co-hosting the Zoom meetings and engaged the kids and adults with activities, 
recipes, birthday party themes and dress ups.  Guest speakers were welcomed into online groups informing members of 
       changes to the NDIS during the pandemic and relevant information such as dealing with home learning during the   
 lockdown.  Feedback from members has been positive for the support received during the challenging time.  
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During the COVID-19 pandemic  when Tweddle was 
unable to facilitate group classes, Tweddle engaged 
Lifebuoy Video to record Tweddle’s Childbirth Education 
classes. This ensured childbirth education continued to 
be available to expectant parents across Victoria and 
beyond. The videos are available on Tweddle’s 
Vimeo channel. 

142
MyTime 

Members 

98.5%
participants 
agreed they 

had achieved 
their desired 

outcome 



Working Out Dads 

Working Out Dads (WoDs) is a free after-hours therapeutic 
parenting program for dads, held in fitness centres. 
The program features facilitated discussion and exercise, 
handouts and text messages. Themes cover parenting, 
relationships, work-life balance, fitness and well-being. The 
objective of Working Out Dads is to connect, support and 
strengthen the capacity of dads in the very early years of 
parenting. With the support of Wyndham City Council and 
the Helen Macpherson Smith Trust,Tweddle facilitated four 
programs in the west during the year and developed a 
business case in partnership with Social Ventures Australia. Two 
programs were postponed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Working Out Dads was also accepted for an oral presentation 
at the 17th World Congress of the World Association for Infant 
Mental Health June 2020 in Brisbane. However, due to the 
pandemic the conference was postponed.

Tweddle would like to congratulate Associate Professor 
Rebecca Giallo from Murdoch Children’s Research Institute
for the recently awarded Commonwealth Government 
Medical Research Future Fund - Million Minds Mission 
grant which will deliver collaborative research into 
suicide prevention among new dads and a rigorous 
evaluation of Tweddle’s Working Out Dads program. 

Prison Program 

Tweddle has been providing parenting education 
programs for women in the custodial system for 
two decades. The Tweddle Parenting program 
at Dame Phyllis Frost aims to support incarcerated 
mothers and their child/ren to ensure that 
early attachment relationships are formed and 
emotional bonds strengthened for healthier 
family relationships. The program is facilitated 
one day per fortnight and comprises a morning 
group for mothers with children in/out of their 
care and prison carers. The group program 
consists of four sessions, which include practical 
parenting advice, peer discussions and a forum 
for the women to share parenting strategies and 
ideas. Individual parenting consultations are 
facilitated in the afternoon. The Circle of Security 
model and other evidence based parenting 
theories are embedded within the parenting 
program which is adapted to suit and support 
the women and their relationships with their 
children within their restrictive environment. During 
the COVID-19 pandemic, Tweddle continued to 
provide support to mothers and carers at 
Dame Phyllis Frost and facilitated parenting 
support through telephone consultations.

Working Out Dads
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34
Dads 

Supported

The research will be a randomised controlled trial. 
280 dads will be recruited then randomised into WODs 
as a group intervention or usual care. Tweddle is thrilled 
to be partnering with Associate Professor Rebecca Giallo 
and the team on this important partnership.

Playsteps®

Tweddle was very excited to receive funding from 
the Brimbank Communities for Children Facilitating
Partners in 2020 to deliver two Playsteps groups for
families who live in the Brimbank City Council. Playsteps 
is an eight week group program facilitated by two 
Tweddle Practitioners with a focus on having fun and 
strengthening parent-child relationships. 

It is an evidence based program that increases 
parent/carer engagement through an environment 
of support and strengths-based activities. 

In order to be able to facilitate the program during 
the COVID-19 pandemic, Tweddle adapted the 
program to a telehealth model and provided virtual 
online groups via Zoom followed by one-on-one 

consultations. Following participation in the program, 
families described their experience and learnings 
from the program, offering many examples of how 
the program had supported them to value play and 
understand the importance of connecting with their child. 

Breastfeeding Support Service

In partnership with Brimbank City Council, Tweddle 
provides a Breastfeeding Support Service in Kings 
Park. The program is facilitated by an International 
Board Certified Lactation Consultant two days per 
week and available to families with young babies 
who live in Brimbank. Referral to the service is from 
Brimbank Maternal and Child Health Nurses.  
98% said they would recommend the service to 
others. During the COVID-19 pandemic Tweddle 
continued to provide support to families and provided 
consultations via Zoom.



This year Tweddle participated in the statewide Strengthening 
Hospital Responses to Family Violence Project and a research 
study with the Royal Melbourne Hospital titled ‘Assisting clients 
experiencing family violence: Clinician and client survey 
responses in a child and family health service’. A journal 
article was written and has been accepted for publication
in the Journal of Clinical Nursing.

A paper was presented in October 2020 at the Australasian 
Marcé Society for Perinatal Mental Health. The title was 
‘An Infant Led Approach to Innovative Practice’ and it 
described the positive outcomes of Tweddle’s Home 
Parenting Education Program (HoPES).

Published ‘Working Out Dads’ to promote men’s mental 
and physical health in early fatherhood: ‘A mixed-methods 
evaluation’. Journal of Family Studies

Tweddle received a grant from Helen Macpherson Smith 
Trust for: ‘Working Out Dads: A Roadmap For Sustainability, 
Reach & Impact’ to develop a business plan for Working Out 
Dads, in partnership with Social Ventures Australia.  

Finance, IT and Infrastructure
2019/20 was a year of significant growth, activity 
and resilience for the Corporate Team. The COVID-19 
pandemic meant many staff were relocated to 
their homes and compulsory mask-wearing and 
face shields became the norm in the administration 
buildings as well as the clinical areas.

It is with great sadness that we report on the 
passing of our much loved Operations Coordinator 
Mrs Barbara Conroy. In her three years at Tweddle 
everyone loved and admired her dedication, humour 
and expertise across a range of areas. We extend 
our condolences to her family and friends.

The Tweddle Foundation, a registered charity and 
public benevolent institution supporting the work and 
facilities of Tweddle continued to raise much needed 
funds which assist in the purchase of toys and equipment 
for the enjoyment of our babies, toddlers and families. 

The Collier Charitable Fund supported Tweddle with a 
grant that provided funds for an on-site Dads’ group 
(Working Out Parenting) and a Health and Wellbeing 
Centre with fitness equipment. This program was 
interrupted by COVID-19 and will resume when we 
return to full Residential Unit capacity.

We thank the William Angliss Charitable Fund for the opportunity 
to purchase new phones, printers, mobile desks, computers, 
lanyards and 160 copies of the book ‘When I’m Feeling Loved’ 
to give to Residential Unit families. These important resources are 
greatly appreciated by staff and families. 

The Hobsons Bay City Council provided funds for MyTime, the
Department of Education & Training awarded funds to help
deliver our Children’s Week event. The Public Record Office Victoria 
contributed a grant supporting the Tweddle Centenary website.

We thank Footscray Rotary for their support and Brimbank 
Communities for Children for funding that allowed us to deliver 
Playsteps to families living in the city of Brimbank.

The Residential Unit upgrade was completed in October 2019, 
as well as the construction of a new undercover play area 
and re-painting of our indoor play areas in December 2019.

Regular server upgrades and Tweq maintenance continue 
to ensure the integrity and security of stored data. Due to 
COVID-19 pandemic, we progressed to 100% paperless with 
templates embedded Tweq. Our much-needed NBN has been 
installed onsite allowing works to commence to deploying 
business critical systems into our cloud environment. These 
measures are seen as vital in our endeavours to improve 
business continuity planning and disaster recovery.  

Tweddle partnered with 
Associate Professor Rebecca Giallo 
from the Murdoch Children’s Research 
Institute and research team who were 
awarded a Commonwealth Government 
Medical Research Future Fund -  Million Minds 
Mission grant which will deliver collaborative 
research into suicide prevention among new 
dads and a rigorous evaluation of Tweddle’s 
Working Out Dads program.

In partnership with the Murdoch Children’s Research 
Institute, Tweddle was successful in being awarded 
a Department of Health and Human Services 
Learning System Grant under the auspices of the 
Centre for Excellence in Child and Welfare. This 
was to evaluate Tweddle’s Parenting Assessment 
and Skill Development Service.  This will be a mixed 
method design involving casefile information and 
semi-structured interviews with staff and parents 
who have participated in the program. The results 
of the study will be available in 2021.

Corporate Report
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It was all hands on deck for Tweddle Clinicians and support teams to transition from face to face programs and services 
to a telehealth model of care when the COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns occurred in March. Under the direction of the 
Department of Health and Human Services, we modified all programs with a focus on safety and support. During this 
time, families were able to self-refer.

Tweddle also developed a Parenting Info Hub which offered dozens of links, videos and resources for isolated families. 
Our Childbirth Education classes were filmed and made available on our Vimeo channel. 

Impacted programs included our Residential program, Working Out Dads, Day Stay, In-Home, HoPES, MyTime, 
Professional Development, Cradle to Kinder, Parenting Assessment & Skills Development Service, Prison Program, 
Breastfeeding Support and Brimbank Playsteps. Tweddle’s on-site Dads’ Group was also impacted. 

17,320
facebook 

engaged users

201,306
facebook 
total reach

35,640 
website

users

126,601 
website 

page views

Research, Innovation 
and Telehealth    

1022

25%

2,535

14,000

42,332
April - June

Vimeo Childbirth
Education videos
seen 283 times

Telehealth evaluation period: April - June 2020



Reflective Practice Supervision
Strengthening Hospital Responses to Family Violence  
Newborn Behaviour Observations
Renewal of CPR provided by Premium Health

As a registered teaching hospital, Tweddle is pleased 
to partner with RMIT, Deakin University, La Trobe University, 
Monash University and Australian Catholic University. 
Throughout the year we had the opportunity to work 
collaboratively with 45 students including social workers, 
occupation therapists, play therapists, maternal & child 
health nurses and paramedic students. These relationships 
provide opportunities for a transfer of knowledge across 
the current and emerging workforce, critical thinking 
and fresh perspectives on clinical practice. 

During the year we established an online platform that 
manages our learning and performance management 
called OurWorkforceHub. The rollout of this platform 
included enhancing our policies and procedures around 
learning and development, supervision, performance 
management and Tweddle’s values and behaviours. 
Tweddle staff completed the following mandatory training:

Child Safe Organisation
Emergency Plan
Incident Management
Manual Handling
Hand Hygiene
Occupational Health and Safety 

The Tweddle workforce as at 30th June 2020 was comprised 
of 49.19 permanent and part time staff on the payroll 
and a nursing bank of 25. The professional EFT staff profile 
2019/20 is as follows: 

Staff Profile   EFT  EFT
    2018-19  2019-20
Registered Nurses  13.6  11.14
Early Childhood Professionals 17.31  18.37
Psychologists   1.62  0.5
Social Workers   1.96  3.6
Corporate Staff   11.26  13.33
Medical Specialists  N/A  N/A
Community Services  1.67  2.25
Casual Staff   30  25

Communications & Community
Tweddle is a leading voice in the Early Parenting and Early Years sectors. Health professionals 
and parents turn to Tweddle for trusted sleep and settling guideance and parenting support. 
Our communication platforms allow us to share news, resources and research, as well as 
stories about staff and families.

Tweddle’s digital platforms combine to reach over 50,000 Victorians a quarter. Trusted 
content is shared acorss our website, Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, LinkedIn, our Vimeo 
and Youtube Channels, as well as Tweddle’s Parenting Babies & Toddlers App. Tweddle’s 
Parent Info Hub was visited 3,277 times between March and June.

Tweddle promoted a number of community days. Events include internal fundraising morning 
teas with staff, and events in partnership with external stakeholders. Priorities included 
Children’s Week, Close the Gap, Multiple Birth Awareness Week, National Families Week, 
International Men’s Health Week, NAIDOC Week, Child Protection Week, RU OK Day, Mental 
Health Week, Infant Mental Health Awareness Week and Postnatal Depression Awareness Week. 

Donations help Tweddle to purchase resources, invest in research and pilot programs. 
Stakeholders can donate safely to Tweddle through our website and our Everyday Hero 
fundraising page. Tweddle is grateful to each and every volunteer, donor and philanthropist. 
You are all Friends of Tweddle. 

We extend our heart-felt gratitude to the Seddon Village traders for selecting Tweddle 
as their charity for their annual Christmas fair. Traders, residents, local business leaders and 
politicians spent the day being dunked to raise money for Tweddle families. A special thanks 
to Mr Chris Gooden and Mr Michael Giglio from Seddon Deadly Sins, Mr Michael Rowland 
from ABC News Breakfast, City of Maribyrnong Mayor Cr Sarah Carter, Deputy Mayor 
Cr Megan Bridger-Darling, Cr Martin Zakharov, Independent representative for 
Western Metropolitan, Dr Catherine Cumming and Seddon Bendigo Bank CEO 
Mr Andy Moutray-Read. 

Donations and Grants over $500 
$124,700 

Hobsons Bay City Council         
Learning Systems Grant   
Department of Education & Training     
William Angliss Charitable Fund   
Brimbank Communities for Children  
Collier Charitable Fund    
Rotary Club of Footscray     
Public Record Office Victoria  
Seddon Christmas Appeal   
Romy Katz     

The wonderful Knit One Give One, Ms Fay Stankovich, Ms Brenda Cottee and 
Ms Rhonda Doyle dedicate many hours of in-kind work to provide knitted items 
and quilts for families, loved by Tweddle families and staff. 

Our thanks also go to the families who donated an engraved gold leaf to Tweddle’s 
Giving Tree displayed on the family room window. We would like to acknowledge our 
tireless volunteer concierge Ms Carol McDonald who for three years has supported 
the admission process at Tweddle every Monday. 

Tweddle has provided professional development and 
training to external organisations, students and staff. In 
2019-20 we facilitated the following workshops and seminars:

Family Partnership Model Training 
Keys to Caregiving Training
NCAST Parent Child Interaction Feeding 
& Teaching  Scales Assessors course
Child Attachment & Infant Mental Health
Dealing with Aggressive People
Baby Brain Trauma
Good Documentation
Asking the Question Aboriginal Training
Playsteps
Supervision Training
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Incorporation 
Tweddle Child and Family Health Service is a Public 
Hospital as noted in the Health Services Act 1988 (Schedule 1).

Freedom of Information 
There were four requests for information under the Freedom 
of Information Act 1982. None pertained to Protected 
Disclosures. 

Quality Accreditation 
Tweddle’s public hospital status means that the organisation 
is required to demonstrate how we have improved our 
services against two sets of Standards during a four-year 
period (Equip6) and three-year period (Department of 
Health and Human Services).

Building Act 1993 
Tweddle fully complies with the building and maintenance 
provisions of the Building Act 1993.

Medical Records 
The maintenance of medical records was undertaken in full 
compliance with the Department of Health and Human 
Services reporting requirements and the provisions of the 
Privacy Act 1988 and the Health Information Act 2003.

The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 
There were no disclosures under the Protected Disclosures 
Act 2012.

National Competition Policy 
Tweddle complies with the Victorian Government guidelines 
when tendering out service contracts.

Environment 
Tweddle has an Environment Management Plan and a 
five-year Asset Management Plan which ensures that 
our objectives are met. These include waste reduction, 
encouraging the use of recycled resources,100% recycled 
green purchasing, green suppliers for gas and electricity, 
separating office waste into reusable, recyclable, compost 

and true waste parts, communicating environmental 
performance through regular reporting, encouraging staff to 
reduce environmental impacts and ensuring new capital 
works incorporate environmental sustainability principles.

Consultants 
A total of 5 consultants were engaged in 2019-2020 totalling 
$50,626. Consultants engaged for fees exceeding $10,000: 
$15,000 Murdoch Children’s Research Institute

Information and Communications Technology (ICT) 
The total spent on ICT Business As Usual excluding GST 
was $59,007.

Occupational Health and Safety 
The Tweddle Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) system 
adheres to the requirements of the Occupational Health and 
Safety Act (2004) and the Occupational Health and Safety 
Regulations (2017). Performance indicators are set, trended 
and reviewed by the OHS Committee with recommendations 
made to senior management. All new staff and contractors 
receivean introduction to OHS matters, including their roles 
and responsibilities in supporting the OHS system. The number 
of OHS hazards/incident reported for the year was 47. 
There were no WorkCover claims with no hours lost time.

Occupational Violence 
There were no occupational violence incidents reported in 
the year.

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 
Tweddle has a commitment to using local content, employment, 
engagement of apprentices/trainees and skills/technology 
transfer outcomes.

Safe Patient Care Act 2015 
Tweddle has no matters to report in relation to its obligations 
under section 40 of the Safe Patient Care Act 2015.

Quality, Legislation and Safety

Quality Highlights
Improvements to Our Services

Establishment of a working group to implement 
the Trauma Informed Care and Practice 
Organisational Toolkit (TICPOT). The TICPOT 
includes a training package for staff, 
volunteers and students, underpinned by 
new policy and procedures.

Received a final endorsement by Reconciliation 
Australia for the publication of Tweddle’s 
Reconciliation Action Plan – REFLECT.  

Improvements for Our Clients 
‘Embedded Safer Care Victoria’s Partnering 
with Consumers Framework and saw the 
completion of the first two components of 
our Partnering with Consumers’ organisational 
action plan. 

Launched a recruitment campaign to attract 
consumer partners at Tweddle. Tweddle’s 
Consumer Participation Framework supports 
the role of consumers and quality improvement. 

Improvements for Our Staff 
Implementation of new committees and 
working groups attracted significant staff 
participation and a strong voice for change 
and improvement.  

Committees and Groups include: 
Quality Committee, OH&S Committee, 
LGTBQI+ Inclusive Practice Working Group, 
Gender Equality and the Reconciliation 
Action Plan working group. 

Improvements for Our Organisation 
Rollout of the new telehealth programs 
and online education enabling expanded 
service delivery and broader catchment
for clients. 

Quality supported the rollout of telehealth 
services to ensure that adequate policy 
work was completed and client and 
worker safety remained at the forefront 
of service standards. 

Safety 
Special 
Interest 
Group

Occupational 
Health & Safety 

Committee

Quality 
& Safety 

Committee

Clinical Governance
Board Sub-Committee

Quality and Safety Support Structure

Accreditation Status
In February 2020, a Periodic Review against 
EQuIP6 Standards (Whole of organisation) and a 
mid-cycle review against Department of Health and 
Human Service Standards (DHHS) (Clinical Programs) was 
completed. Our independent review body, the Australian 
Council on Healthcare Standards (ACHS), advised Tweddle 
that we were awarded a Certificate of Accreditation. ACHS 
also informed Tweddle that the accreditation was completed 
to such a high standard that  no  recommendations for
improvements were required. 

Client Feedback 
Tweddle strives to deliver safe, coordinated, effective 
and family-centred services. One mechanism that helps us 
to know if we are achieving our objectives is the feedback 
we receive from our clients. This feedback may come in 
the form of a formal compliment, complaint or suggestion.

This year saw the implementation of new telehealth client, 
staff and stakeholder surveys. The feedback demonstrated 
an overwhelming number of clients and stakeholders 
showing their gratitude and appreciation for telehealth 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. Staff worked with quality 
to identify and implement improvement opportunties. 

Declarations 
and Compliance
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Our Committees meet prior to the Board, with additional 
special meetings being held as required. The Board 
undertakes evaluation of its performance at all meetings 
as well as a yearly assessment to ensure a focus on 
continuous improvement. 

Tweddle, as a public hospital, is also required to comply 
with a range of legislation and health sector policies 
including government policies relating to financial and 
human resource management practice. 

Key Activities for the Board in 2019–2020: 

1 Endorsing the Masterplan 

2 Undertaking a Risk Management Renewal Project

3 Planning Tweddle Centenary Celebration Program

Tweddle’s Clinical Team is managed by the 
Director Clinical Services/Nursing, Ms Kirsty Evans; 
the Corporate Services Team is managed by the 
Director Finance & Corporate Services, Mr Vince Di Stefano.

 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
 $ $ $ $ $ $

Total Revenue  6,252,748   6,534,087   5,766,547   4,977,200   4,560,011   4,349,884 
Total Expenses  7,035,788   6,412,107   5,635,157   4,973,147   5,053,154   4,589,832 
Net Result  (783,040)  121,980   131,390   4,053   (493,143)  (239,948)
Before Capital and Specific Items      

Total Assets  16,216,835   16,832,652   12,615,530   12,215,257   11,141,883   10,373,867 
Total Liabilities  1,614,314   1,351,740   1,287,903   1,120,113   896,733   801,192 
Net Assets  14,602,521   15,480,912   11,327,627   11,095,144   10,245,150   9,572,675 

Total Equity  14,602,521   15,480,912   11,327,627   11,095,144   10,245,150   9,572,675 

Tweddle is accountable to the people of Victoria through 
the Honourable Jenny Mikakos, Minister for Health and 
Minister for Ambulance Services. We are grateful for the 
direction and funding provided by the Department of 
Health and Human Services (DHHS) which enable us to 
support over four thousand families every year. 

We take this accountability duty seriously – inasmuch as 
we also believe we are accountable to Tweddle’s long, 
proud history of serving the babies, toddlers and families 
of all of Victoria. 

In order to provide strategic and organisational direction 
and monitor performance, all Board directors participate 
in at least one subcommittee: the Executive, Governance 
and Remuneration Committee, chaired by the Board 
Chairperson, the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee, 
chaired by the Treasurer, or the Clinical Governance 
Committee, chaired by the Deputy Chair. In addition, 
working groups are convened on an as-need basis eg 
the Lobbying and Advocacy Working Group. 

Governance and Accountability

We certify that the Tweddle Child and Family Health Service Report of Operations 2019-2020 has 
been prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Human Services Guidelines: 
Lodging annual reports in parliament 2019-2020 and the Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) 
issued by the Department of Treasury and Finance.

Integrity, fraud and corruption  
I, Mr Vince Di Stefano, certify that Tweddle Child & Family Health Service has put in place 
appropriate internal controls and processes to ensure that Integrity, fraud and corruption risks 
have been reviewed and addressed at Tweddle Child & Health Service during the year.

Ms Doris Whitmore
Chairperson

Date: 19 October 2020

Ms Jacquie O’Brien
Chief Executive Officer
Date: 19 October 2020

Mr Vince Di Stefano
Director Finance & Corporate Services

Date: 19 October 2020

Mr Vince Di Stefano
Director Finance and Corporate Services

Date: 19 October 2020

Attestation
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Financial results  
There were no major changes or factors which affected the achievements of Tweddle’s operational objectives in 2019-2020

Carers Recognition Act 2012 
Tweddle complies with its obligations under Section 11 of the 
Carers Recognition ACT 2012. Tweddle recognises carers for 
their efforts and dedication for the social and economic 
contribution to Tweddle and to the community.

Data Integrity 
I, Mr Vince Di Stefano, certify that Tweddle Child & Family 
Health Service has put in place, appropriate internal controls 
and processes to ensure that reported data accurately 
reflects actual performance. Tweddle Child & Family Health 
Service has critically reviewed these controls and processes 
during the year.

Health Purchasing Policies 
I, Mr Vince Di Stefano, certify that Tweddle Child and Family 
Health Service has put in place, appropriate internal 
controls and processes to ensure that it has complied with 
all requirements set out in the Health Purchasing Victoria 
policies including mandatory collective agreements as 
required by the Health Services Act 1988 (Vic) and has critically 
reviewed these controls and processes during the year.

Conflict of Interest 
I, Mr Vince Di Stefano, certify that Tweddle Child & Family 
Health Service has put in place, appropriate internal controls 

and processes to ensure that it has complied with the 
requirements of hospital circular 07/2017 Compliance 
Reporting in health portfolio entities and has implemented 
a ‘Conflict of Interest’ policy consistent with the minimum 
accountabilities required by the Victorian Public Sector 
Commission. Declaration of private interest forms have been 
completed by all executive staff within Tweddle Child & Family 
Health Service and members of the Board, and all declared 
conflicts have been addressed and are being managed. 
Conflict of interest is a standard agenda item for declaration 
and documenting at each Board meeting.

Financial Management Compliance 
I, Mr Vince Di Stefano, on behalf of the Responsible Body, certify 
that Tweddle Child & Family Health Service has complied with 
the applicable Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance 
under the Financial Management Act 1994 and Instructions.

Other Information 
Additional information in accordance with FR22 of the 
Financial Management Act 1994 has been prepared and is 
available to Ministers, Members of Parliament and the public 
on request. Information pertaining to declarations, pecuniary 
interests, travel, research, promotions, occupational health 
and safety, industrial relations, committees, consultancies 
and contractors is also available on request from the 
Director Finance and Corporate Services, Tweddle Child 
and Family Health Service.

Other 
information 
Information 
required 
in accordance 
with FR22 of 
the Financial 
Management 
Act 1994 has 
been prepared 
and is available 
on request.

Reconciliation between the Net result from transactions reported in the model to the Operating result as agreed in the 
Statement of Priorities 

This summary of the financial results needs to be included in the Report of Operations and not in the audited financial 
statements but must be consistent with the audited financial statements.
     
 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
 $ $ $ $ $ $
Net Operating Result -540,059 73,908 197,198 129,113 -324,308 11,685
Capital and specific items      
Capital purpose income  -     280,000   131,910   -     15,108   15,810 
Specific income  -     -     -     -     -     -   
Assets provided free of charge  -     -     -     -     -     -   
Assets received free of charge  -     -     -     -     -     -   
Expenditure for capital purpose  (17,722)  (18,636)  (18,667)  (18,463)  (32,978)  (34,937)
Depreciation and amortisation  (225,259)  (213,292)  (179,051)  (145,121)  (156,711)  (147,831)
Impairement of non-financial assets  -     -     -     -     -     -   
Finance costs (other)  -     -     -     -     -     -   

Net result from transactions -783,040 121,980 131,390 -34,471 -498,889 -155,273
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Our Five Pillars

Babies and toddlers 
within their families

The first 1000 days of babies’ lives 
(from conception to the age of 
two) is vital to support optimal 

positive shifts in a child’s life 
trajectory. This drives Tweddle 

to work with families in this 
important period.

Partnerships
Partnerships with families and 

organisations are key to providing 
services in a seamless and 

connected manner. 

Development and 
trauma-informed care

Our work is informed by 
an understanding of child 

development and the impact of 
trauma on the baby or toddler.

Underpinned 
by evidence

Our program design and 
implementation will be 

underpinned and validated by 
documented scientific evidence.

Sustainability
We will explore new, 

efficient, cost-effective 
opportunities to operate and 

grow, guided by the best 
available evidence in our field.
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Tweddle Centenary
from 100 years to 1000 Days  
This is Tweddle’s 100th Annual Report. However our Centenary falls in the 
September of 2020 and will therefore be officially documented in our 101st 
Annual Report. 

The ink was drying on plans for a number of exciting Tweddle Centenary 
celebrations when the COVID-19 pandemic struck. Plans included a Life 
Governors’ dinner, a Centenary event at Government House, a Gala Ball, 
a family day at the Melbourne Zoo and a reunion afternoon tea for past
Tweddle staff. Our official Centenary website launch was also impacted.

We still hope to deliver these events in the 2020/21 financial year and to 
include past and present Board members, staff, stakeholders and families 
in our celebrations. 

We wish to honour and pay tribute to the incredible dedication of those that 
came before us. This includes our Founders, Life Governors, Local, State and 
Federal Government supporters, philanthropists, volunteers, past and present 
CEOs, Matrons, Medical Officers, Nurses, Early Childhood and Early Parenting 
Practitioners, Corporate and Admin Staff, Community Partners and the 
many families that have placed their trust in Tweddle over ten decades. 

Reducing Infant Mortality – The Beginning 
Tweddle evolved following the September 13th 1920 establishment of The 
Society for the Health of Women and Children of Victoria (Plunket System). 
Major influences on the Foundation of The Society included: Dr John 
Springthorpe, Sister Maud Primrose, and Mr James Hume-Cook (Honorary 
Secretary of the Society). The Society for the Health of Women and Children 
of Victoria was funded by businessman Joseph Tweddle and in 1922 officially 
became the Tweddle Hospital for Babies and the School of Mothercraft on 
land donated by the Footscray Council.

Infant Welfare Training and Mothercraft Nurse training 
The Infant Welfare and Mothercraft nursing course commenced at Tweddle 
in 1924. This course was phased out in February 1980 as directed by the 
Health Commission of Victoria. 872 Nursing sisters trained and qualified for 
their third certificate and 49 completed refresher courses.   

The Angliss Family
The Angliss Family contributed many decades of  governance, auxiliary 
leadership and council representation at Tweddle. Significant involvement 
came from Dame Jacobena Angliss DBE, Mrs P R Angliss, Mrs M J Angliss, 
Mrs M V Angliss and Mrs Eirene Angliss. Mrs. Diana Eirene Gibson, the 
daughter of Eirene Rose Angliss and David Knox, and the Granddaughter 
of Sir William and Lady Angliss and Sir Robert and Lady Knox continues 
to have an interest in the activities 
of Tweddle today as Life Governor 
and philanthropist. 

We thank 1939 Tweddle baby 
Mr Jim Hevey for documenting 
Tweddle’s history and for his 
dedication to capturing the stories and 
images of Tweddle’s Centenary of service.

1
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Tweddle Child and Family Health Service 

Board member’s, Accountable Officer’s and Chief Finance & Accounting 

Officer’s declaration 

 

 

The attached financial statements for Tweddle Child and Family Health Service have been prepared in accordance with 

Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable 

Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory 

professional reporting requirements. 

 

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, 

statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions 

during the year ended 30 June 2020 and the financial position of Tweddle Child and Family Health Service at 30 June 

2020. 

 

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the financial 

statements to be misleading or inaccurate. 

 

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 19th October 2020. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ms Jenny Lang 

Treasurer 

 

Footscray 

19 October 2020 

 

 

 

Ms Jacquie O’Brien 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

Footscray  

19 October 2020 

 

 

Mr Vince Di Stefano 

Director Corporate Services 

 

Footscray 

19 October 2020. 
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2020 2019

$ $

Revenue and Income from transactions

Operating activities 2.1 6,168,372       6,362,434       

Non-operating activities 2.1 84,376           171,653          

Total Revenue and Income from transactions 6,252,748      6,534,087      

Expenses from Transactions 

Employee expenses 3.1 (5,745,169)      (5,047,758)      

Supplies and consumables 3.1 (133,906)        (145,106)        

Depreciation and amortisation 4.4 (225,259)        (213,292)        

Other non-operating expenses 3.1 (931,454)        (1,005,951)      

Total Expenses from Transactions (7,035,788)    (6,412,107)    

Net Result from Transactions - Net Operating Balance (783,040)        121,980         

Other Economic Flows included in Net Result

Net Gain/(Loss) on financial instruments at fair value 3.2 (95,351)          34,569           

Total Other Economic Flows included in Net Result (95,351)          34,569            

Net Result for the year (878,391)        156,549         

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified to Net Result

Changes in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 4.2(b) -                   3,996,737       

Total Other Comprehensive Income -                      3,996,737      

Comprehensive Result for the Year (878,391)        4,153,286      

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Comprehensive Operating Statement

Tweddle Child and Family Health Service

For the Financial year Ended 30 June 2020
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Note 2020 2019

$ $

Current Assets

Cash and cash Equivalents 6.2 659,549         968,216          

Receivables 5.1 90,116           196,013          

Investments and Other financial assets 4.1 1,514,785       1,833,915       

Prepayments 42,054           51,773           

Total Current Assets 2,306,504      3,049,917      

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 4.2(a) 13,786,262     13,675,829     

Intangible assets 4.3 124,069         106,906          

Total Non-Current Assets 13,910,331   13,782,735    

TOTAL ASSETS 16,216,835   16,832,652    

Current Liabilities

Payables 5.2 514,800         480,592          

Borrowings 6.1 12,680           12,275           

Provisions 3.4 771,167         583,781          

Total Current Liabilities 1,298,647      1,076,648      

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 6.1 52,250           64,927           

Provisions 3.4 263,417         210,165          

Total Non-Current Liabilities 315,667         275,092         

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,614,314      1,351,740      

NET ASSETS 14,602,521   15,480,912    

EQUITY

Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 4.2(f) 10,241,601     10,241,601     

Restricted specific purpose surplus 410,930         410,930          

Contributed capital 3,587,206       3,587,206       

Accumulated Surplus 362,784         1,241,175       

TOTAL EQUITY 14,602,521   15,480,912    

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2020

Tweddle Child and Family Health Service

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Property, 

Plant and 

Equipment 

Revaluation 

Surplus

Restricted 

Specific 

Purpose 

Surplus

Contributed 

Capital

Accumulated 

Surplus/ 

(Deficit)

Total

Note $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 30 June 2018 6,244,864 410,930 3,587,206 1,084,626 11,327,626 

Net result for the year  -  -  - 156,549 156,549 

Other comprehensive income for the year 3,996,737  -  -  - 3,996,737 

Balance at 30 June 2019 10,241,601 410,930 3,587,206 1,241,175 15,480,912 

Net result for the year  -  -  - (878,392) (878,392)

Other comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2020 10,241,601 410,930 3,587,206 362,783 14,602,520 

Tweddle Child and Family Health Service

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 2020 2019

$ $

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Operating grants from government 5,648,080       5,478,273        

Capital grants from government - State -                   250,000          

Donations and bequests received -                   30,000            

GST received from ATO 60,242           -                   

Interest and investment income received 76,104           37,624            

Other Receipts 575,992          569,841          

Total Receipts 6,360,418      6,365,738       

Employee expenses paid (5,450,294)      (4,921,712)      

Payments for supplies and consumables (1,075,113)      (1,220,208)      

Finance Costs (2,330)            (1,086)            

Total Payments (6,527,737)    (6,143,006)     

Net Cash Flows from/(used in) Operating Activities 8.1 (167,319)        222,732          

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Purchase of non-financial assets (295,531)         (281,129)         

Purchase of Intangible assets (57,325)          (61,278)           

Proceeds from disposal of non-financial assets -                   27,981            

Proceeds from disposal of investments 223,778          (1,329)            

Net Cash Flows from/(used in) Investing Activities (129,078)        (315,755)        

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

Repayment of borrowings (12,270)          (5,115)            

Net Cash Flows from /(used in) Financing Activities (12,270)          (5,115)             

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Held 
(308,668)        (98,138)           

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 968,216          1,066,354       

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 6.2 659,549          968,216          

Cash Flow Statement 
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020

Tweddle Child and Family Health Service

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Basis of presentation 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and relevant 
FRD’s. These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and the historical cost convention is 

used unless a different measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item 
measured on a different basis. 
 
The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements whereby 
assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, 
regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 

Note 1: Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

These annual financial statements represent the audited general-purpose financial statements for Tweddle 

Child and Family Health Service (‘Tweddle”) for the year ended 30 June 2020. The report provides users 

with information about Tweddle’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it. 

 

(a) Statement of compliance 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 

accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable AASBs, which include interpretations 

issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). They are presented in a manner consistent 

with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements. 

The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the 

Department of Treasury & Finance, and relevant Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Assistant 

Treasurer. 

Tweddle is a not-for profit entity and therefore applies the additional Aus paragraphs applicable to “not-for-

profit” Health Services under the AASBs. 

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Tweddle Child and Family Health 

Service on 19th October 2020. 

 

(b) Reporting entity 

The financial statements include all the controlled activities of the Tweddle Child and Family Health Service.  

 

Its principal address is: 

53 Adelaide St 

Footscray 

Victoria 3011 

 

A description of the nature of Tweddle’s operations and its principal activities is included in the report of 

operations, which does not form part of these financial statements. 
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Note 1: Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

Objectives and funding 

 

Tweddle’s overall objective is to provide quality health services that meet the needs of women and newborn 

babies; especially those requiring specialist care. These services are informed by research and are provided 

within an environment of innovation, education and advocacy. The contributions of our employees, 

consumers, diverse communities and other agencies that share our goals are fundamental to our success. 

Our resources are committed to health services that are ethically, socially and financially responsible. 

 

Tweddle is predominantly funded by accrual-based grant funding for the provision of outputs.  

 

COVID-19 

A state of emergency was declared in Victoria on 16 March 2020 due to the global coronavirus pandemic, 

known as COVID-19. A state of disaster was subsequently declared on 2 August 2020. To contain the spread 

of the virus and to prioritise the health and safety of our communities various restrictions have been 

announced and implemented by the state government, which in turn has impacted the manner in which 

businesses operate, including Tweddle Child and Family Health Service.  

 

Tweddle’s rapid response to the pandemic saw an organisational wide transition to telehealth and online 

education. Tweddle also developed a Parenting Info Hub which offered dozens of links, videos and resources 

for isolated families. Our Childbirth Education classes were filmed and made available on our Vimeo channel. 

Tweddle also moved to working from home arrangements across the entire workforce. 

 

For further details refer to Note 3.1 Expenses from Transactions, 4.2 Property, plant and equipment, and 

Note 8.7 Events occurring after the balance sheet date. 

 

(c) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement 

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial 

information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the 

underlying transactions or other events is reported. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year 

ended 30 June 2020, and the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year 

ended 30 June 2019. 

 

The going concern basis was used to prepare the financial statements. Refer to Note 8.8 Economic 

Dependency 

 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency of 

Tweddle. 

 

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis of 

accounting. Under the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or expenses when 

they satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria for those items, that is they are recognised in the reporting 

period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
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Note 1: Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

(c) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement (continued) 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 

on an ongoing basis. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived 

from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future 

periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of 

AASBs that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:  

 ● The fair value of land, buildings and plant and equipment (refer to Note 4.2 Property, Plant and Equipment); 

 

Goods and Services Tax (GST)    

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In this case the GST payable is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
    
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the Balance Sheet.  
    

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO, are presented as operating cash flow. 
    

Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities are presented on a gross basis. 
 

(d)  Equity 

Contributed Capital 

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions, contributions by owners (that is contributed 

capital and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form part of the income 
and expenses of Tweddle. 
 
Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as 
contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions to or distributions by owners have 
also been designated as contributions by owners.  
 

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to or 
contribution by owners. Transfer of net liabilities arising from administrative restructurings are treated as 
distribution to owners. 
 
Financial assets available for sale revaluation surplus 
 

Financial assets available for sale revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial 
assets. Where a revalued financial asset is sold, that portion of the surplus which relates to that financial 
asset is effectively realised and is recognised on the comprehensive operating statement. Where a revalued 
financial asset is impaired that portion of the surplus which relates to that financial asset is recognised in the 

comprehensive operating statement. 

 Employee benefit provisions are based on likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims, future salary 
movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 3.4 Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet); and 

    

 Managed investment funds classified at level 2 of the fair value hierarchy (refer to Note 7.1 Financial 
Instruments). 
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Note: 2 Funding delivery of our services 

Tweddle’s overall objective is to deliver programs and services that support and enhance the 

wellbeing of all Victorians. 

 

To enable the hospital to fulfil its objective it receives income based on parliamentary 

appropriations. The hospital also receives income from the supply of services. 

 

Structure 

2.1 Revenue and Income from Transactions 

 

 
 

Revenue Recognition 

Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue with contracts with customers and AASB 1058 

Income for not-for-profit entities, which replaced AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 1004 Contributions, effective 

from 1 July 2019. Amounts disclosed as revenue are, where applicable, net of returns, allowances and 

duties and taxes. 

a) income for not-for-profit entities, in accordance with AASB 1058;  

b) revenue or a contract liability arising from a contract with a customer, in accordance with AASB 15;  

c) a financial instrument, in accordance with AASB 9;   

 

Government Grants and other transfers of income (other than contributions by owners). 

Income from grants that are enforceable and with sufficiently specific performance obligations are accounted 

for under AASB 15 as revenue from contracts with customers, with revenue recognised as these 

performance obligations are met. 

Income from grants without any sufficiently specific performance obligations, or that are not enforceable, is 

recognised when Tweddle gains control of the asset. On initial recognition of the asset, Tweddle recognises 

any related contributions by owners, increases in liabilities, decreases in assets, and revenue (‘related 

amounts’) in accordance with other Australian Accounting Standards. 

Note 2.1: Revenue and Income from Transactions 

Total Total

 2020 2019

 $ $

 

Government grants (State) - Operating 5,648,080          5,478,273           

Governmentg rants (State) - Capital 250,000             

Other capital purpose income -                     30,000               

Patient and resident fees 13,936              21,982               

Commercial activities 1 456,037            466,240             

Other revenue from operating activities (including non-capital donations) 50,319              115,939             

Total Revenue and Income from Operating Activities 6,168,372         6,362,434          

Capital interest -                     -                      

Other interest 8,322               17,553               

Dividends 76,054              154,100             

Other revenue from non-operating activities -                     -                      

Total Revenue and Income from Non-Operating Activities 84,376               171,653              

Total Revenue and Income from Transactions 6,252,748         6,534,087          

 
1. Commercial activities represent business activities which Tweddle enters into to support their operations.
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Note: 2 Funding delivery of our services (Continued) 

Note: 2.1 Income from Transactions (Continued) 

As a result of the transitional impacts of adopting AASB 15 and AASB 1058, a portion of the grant revenue 
has been deferred. If the grant income is accounted for in accordance with AASB 15, the deferred grant 

revenue has been recognised in contract liabilities whereas grant revenue in relation to the construction of 
capital assets which the health service controls has been recognised in accordance with AASB 1058 and 
recognised as deferred grant revenue (refer note 5.2). If the grant revenue was accounted for under the 
previous accounting standard AASB 1004 in 2019/20, the total grant revenue received 
would have been recognised in full. 
 
Performance Obligations 

The types of government grants recognised under AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

includes:  

a) Special Purpose Grants – funding conditions contain enforceable and sufficiently specific 

performance obligations 

For capital purpose grants with performance obligations, Tweddle exercises judgement over whether the 

performance obligations have been met, on a grant by grant basis. 

 
Indirect Contributions from the Department of Health and Human Services 

 Insurance is recognised as revenue following advice from the Department of Health and Human 

Services. 
 Long Service Leave (LSL) – Revenue is recognised upon finalisation of movements in LSL liability in 

line with the long service leave funding arrangements set out in the relevant Department of Health 
and Human Services Hospital Circular  
 

Patient and Resident Fees 

Patient and resident fees, are recognised as revenue on an accrual basis. There is no impact from AASB 15 
as revenue continues to be recognised as and when services are performed. 
 

Revenue from commercial activities 
Revenue from commercial activities such as commercial laboratory medicine is recognised at the time 
invoices are raised. There is no impact from AASB 15 as revenue continues to be recognised when services 
are performed. Performance obligations related to commercial activities are provision of non-health related 

services at either a point in time or over time. These performance obligations have been selected as they 
align with the terms and conditions per the contract with the provider of the commercial activities. 
 
Donations and Other Bequests 
Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue under AASB 1058 when received. If donations are for a 
special purpose, they may be appropriated to a surplus, such as the restricted specific purpose surplus. 
Under AASB 1058, Tweddle continues to assess future donations or bequests to determine whether they 

satisfy the ‘performance obligation’ criteria. 
 
Dividend Revenue 
Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Dividends represent the 
income arising from Tweddle’s investments in financial assets. 
 

Interest Income 
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes in account the effective yield of the 
financial asset, which allocates interest over the relevant period. 
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Note: 2.1 Income from Transactions (Continued) 

 

 
Previous accounting policy for 30 June 2019  

Grant income arises from transactions in which a party provides goods or assets (or extinguishes a liability) to 
Tweddle without receiving approximately equal value in return. While grants may result in the provision of 
some goods or services to the transferring party, they do not provide a claim to receive benefits directly of 
approximately equal value (and are termed ‘non-reciprocal’ transfers). Receipt and sacrifice of approximately 
equal value may occur, but only by coincidence.   
Some grants are reciprocal in nature (i.e. equal value is given back by the recipient of the grant to the 
provider). Tweddle recognises income when it has satisfied its performance obligations under the terms of the 
grant.   
For non-reciprocal grants, Tweddle recognises revenue when the grant is received.  
Grants can be received as general purpose grants, which refers to grants which are not subject to conditions 
regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be received as specific purpose grants, which are paid for a 
particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use. 
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Note 3: The cost of delivering our services 

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by Tweddle in delivering services and outputs. 
In Section 2, the funds that enable the provision of services were disclosed and in this note the cost 

associated with provision of services are recorded.  
 
Structure 
3.1 Expenses from transactions  
3.2 Other economic flows 
3.3 Analysis of expense and revenue by internally managed and restricted specific purpose funds 
3.4 Employee benefits in the balance sheet 

3.5 Superannuation 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Note 3.1: Expenses from Transactions 

 2020 2019

$ $

Salaries and wages 4,579,438           3,984,980        

On-costs 1,090,907           943,891          

Agency expenses 74,824               118,887          

Total Employee Expenses 5,745,169          5,047,758       

Other supplies and consumables 133,531             145,106          

Total Supplies and Consumables 133,531              145,106          

Fuel, light, power and water 59,854               54,362            

Repairs and maintenance 74,673               84,021            

Maintenance contracts 57,971               63,509            

Other administrative expenses 721,609             785,423          

Expenditure for capital purposes 17,722               18,636            

Total Other Operating Expenses 931,829              1,005,951       

Depreciation and amortisation  (refer Note 4.4) 225,259             213,292          

Total Expenses from Transactions 7,035,788          6,412,107       
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Note 3.1: Expenses from Transactions (Continued)  

 
Expense Recognition 

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate. 

Employee expenses 

Employee expenses include: 

 Salaries and wages (including fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination payments); 

 On-costs; 

 Agency expenses; 

 Work cover premium 

 superannuation expenses which are reported differently depending upon whether employees are 

members of defined benefit or defined contribution plans.  

 

Supplies and consumables 

Supplies and consumable costs which are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are 

incurred. The carrying amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when distributed. 

 

Other operating expenses 

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations 

and include such things as:  

• Fuel, light and power 

• Repairs and maintenance 

• Other administrative expenses 

• Expenditure for capital purposes (represents expenditure related to the purchase of assets that are 

below the capitalisation threshold of $1,000).  

 

COVID-19 Expenditure 

As indicated at Note 1, Tweddle has incurred costs in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. The 

operating costs that have been recognised as at 30 June 2020 are $29,323 and fall into 3 broad 

categories as follows:  

• Loss of income  

• IT configuration 

• Service delivery 

 

The costs have been reported in accordance with the Data Capture Guidelines for COVID-19 that 

were issued by DHHS. 
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Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from 

transactions. Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or losses from: 

• the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the bond 

interest rates; and 

• reclassified amounts relating to available-for-sale financial instruments from the reserves to net 

result due to a disposal or derecognition of the financial instrument. This does not include 

reclassification between equity accounts due to machinery of government changes or ‘other 

transfers’ of assets 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value includes: 

• Realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations of financial instruments at fair value; 

• Impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost refer to Note 7.1 

and 

 Disposals of financial assets and de-recognition of financial liabilities. 

 

 

 

 

Note 3.2:  Other economic flows included in net result

 2020 2019

 $'000 $'000

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 

Unrealised gains/(losses) from revaluation of financial assets at fair value (95,351)        34,569        

Total Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Instruments (95,351)       34,569       

Total Gains/(Losses) From Other Economic Flows (95,351)       34,569       

 2020 2019 2020 2019

$ $ $ $

Commercial Activities

Protective Services: DHHS Other Regions 138,523          252,458      301,539        204,002      

Day Stay Programs 47,651            56,151        59,366         33,562        

MyTime Programs 122,517          105,670      129,140        66,378        

Prison Program 12,344            13,410        14,337         11,747        

Tweddle at home 4,132             7,291         17,415         25,287        

Child Birth Education 38,399            36,556        40,972         28,090        

Cradle to Kinder 108,862          108,862      141,911        98,755        

HoPes 393,379          24,706        371,221        -               

Play Steps 28,000            44,000        3,334           4,993         

Working Out Dads 6,526             28,702        17,045         13,741        

Other (include any activity not stated above) 151,003          64,509        348,794        42,499        

Total Commercial Activities 1,051,335      742,315     1,445,074   529,054     

Note 3.3: Analysis of Expenses and Revenue by 

Internally Managed and Restricted Specific 

Purpose Funds 

ExpenseRevenue
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Note 3.4: Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet

 2020 2019

 $ $

CURRENT PROVISIONS EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (i)

Annual leave 

- unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months ii 333,727           224,821          

- unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months iii 44,675             30,096            

Long service leave

- unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months ii 47,929             33,396            

- unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months  iii 307,209           244,856          

733,540           533,169          

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs

Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months ii 5,078              22,174            

Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months  iii 32,549             28,438            

37,627              50,612             

TOTAL CURRENT PROVISIONS 771,167           583,781          

NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (i)

Conditional long service leave 238,182           190,031          

Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs 25,235             20,134            

TOTAL NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS 263,417           210,165          

TOTAL PROVISIONS 1,034,584        793,946          

(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

2020 2019

Current Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs $ $

Unconditional long service leave entitlements 392,765           307,733          

Annual leave entitlements 378,402           276,048          

Total Current Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs 771,167           583,781          

Non-Current Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

Conditional long service leave entitlements 263,417           210,165          

Total Non-Current Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs 263,417           210,165          

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND RELATED ON-COSTS 1,034,584        793,946          

(b) Movement in On-Costs Provision

2020 2019

$ $

Balance at start of year 70,746              62,139             

Additional provisions recognised 20,311             21,311            

Reduction due to transfer out (28,195)            (12,704)           

Balance at end of year 62,862              70,746             

ii The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.
iii The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.

i Employee benefits consist of amounts for accrued days off, annual leave and long service leave accrued by 

employees, not including on-costs.
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Note 3.4: Employee Benefits in The Balance Sheet (Continued) 

Employee Benefit Recognition 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of accrued days off, annual leave and long 
service leave for services rendered to the reporting date as an expense during the period the services are 
delivered. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when Tweddle has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is 
probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. 
The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  

 
 

Annual Leave and Accrued Days Off   

Liabilities for annual leave and accrued days off are all recognised separately from provision for employee 
benefits as 'current liabilities' because Tweddle does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of 
these liabilities. 
    

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for salaries and wages, annual leave and 
accrued days off are measured at: 

• Nominal value – if Tweddle expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or 

• Present value – if Tweddle does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months. 
    
Long Service Leave    

The liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.  

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability even where 

Tweddle does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional 

right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. An 
unconditional right arises after a qualifying period. 
    

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:  

• Nominal value – if Tweddle expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or 

• Present value – if Tweddle does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months. 

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability.  There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement 
of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service (currently 10 years). This 
non-current LSL liability is required to be measured at present value. 
 

Any gain or loss followed revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a 
transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in estimations e.g. bond rate 
movements, inflation rate movements and changes in probability factors which are then recognised as other 
economic flow (Refer to Note 3.2 Other Economic Flows Included in Net Result). 
 

Termination benefits 

Are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or when an employee decides 
to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. 
 
   
    
On-Costs Related to Employee Expense   

Provision for on-costs such as workers compensation and superannuation are recognized separately from 
provisions for employee benefits. 

 



Tweddle Child and Family Health Service 
Notes to the financial statements 

30 June 2020 

 

19 
 

 

 

Employees of Tweddle are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Tweddle contributes to both 

defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan’s provides benefits based on years 

of service and final average salary. 

 

Defined contribution superannuation plans 

In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans, the associated expense is 

simply the employer contributions that are paid or payable in respect of employees who are members of 

these plans during the reporting period. Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are 

expensed when incurred. 

 

Defined benefit superannuation plans 

The amount charged to the comprehensive operating statement in respect of defined benefit superannuation 

plans represents the contributions made by Tweddle to the superannuation plans in respect of the services 

of current Tweddle staff during the reporting period.  Superannuation contributions are made to the plans 

based on the relevant rules of each plan and are based upon actuarial advice. 

 

Tweddle does not recognise any unfunded benefit liability in respect of the plan’s because the entity has no 

legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay 

superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury & Finance discloses the State’s 

defined benefits liabilities in its disclosure for administered items. 

 

However, superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of 

employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement of Tweddle.  

The name, details and amounts expense in relation to the major employee superannuation funds and 

contributions made by Tweddle are as disclosed above 

 

Note 3.5: Superannuation

 

2020 2019 2020 2019

$ $ $ $

Defined Benefit Plans i :

First State Super 7,466       6,624       -         -         

Defined Contribution Plans:

First State Super 146,748   132,117   -         -         

Vision Super Pty Ltd 8,116       10,986     -         -         

Trust Australia (HESTA) 124,774   120,635   -         -         

Australian Super 45,831     35,248     -         -         

Other 126,377   95,278     -         -         

Total 459,312  400,888  -           -           

Paid Contribution for 

the Year

Contribution 

Outstanding at Year 

End

i  The basis for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries 

of the defined benefit superannuation plans.
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Note 4: Key Assets to support service delivery 

Tweddle controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and 
conducting its activities. They represent the key resources that have been entrusted to the health service 

to be utilised for delivery of those outputs. 
 
Structure 
4.1 Investments and other financial assets 
4.2 Property, plant and equipment 
4.3 Intangible Assets 
4.4 Depreciation and amortisation 

 

 

 

 

Investment Recognition 

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is 

under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the 

market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.  

Tweddle classifies its other financial assets between current and non-current assets based on the Board’s 

intention at balance date with respect to the timing of disposal of each asset.  Tweddle assesses at each 

balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

Tweddle’s investments must comply with Standing Direction 3.7.2 - Treasury Management, including Central 

Banking System. The managed investment schemes are kept from the central banking system as they 

represent investments held in trust.  

All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through the Comprehensive Operating 

Statement are subject to annual review for impairment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note 4.1: Investments and Other Financial Assets

 2020 2019

 $ $

CURRENT

Managed investment schemes 1,514,785      1,833,915         

TOTAL CURRENT 1,514,785    1,833,915        

TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL 

ASSETS 1,514,785    1,833,915        

Represented by:

Investments held in trust 1,514,785      1,833,915         

TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL 

ASSETS 1,514,785    1,833,915        
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Note 4.1: Investments and Other Financial Assets (continued) 

Derecognition of financial assets  

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is derecognised when:  

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or  

  Tweddle retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to 

pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or  

  Tweddle has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:  

(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or  

(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 

transferred control of the asset. 

 

Where Tweddle has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred 

control, the asset is recognised to the extent of Tweddle’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

Impairment of financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Tweddle assesses whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, except those 

measured at fair value through profit and loss, are subject to annual review for impairment. 

 

Where the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument at balance date has reduced by 20 percent or 

more than its cost price or where its fair value has been less than its cost price for a period of 12 or more 

months, the financial asset is treated as impaired. 

 

In order to determine an appropriate fair value as at 30 June 2020 for its portfolio of financial assets, 

Tweddle used the market value of investments held provided by the portfolio managers. 

The above valuation process was used to quantify the level of impairment (if any) on the portfolio of 

financial assets as at year end. 
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Note 4.2: Property, plant and equipment 

Initial Recognition 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair 

value less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, 

the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a merger/machinery of 

government change are transferred at their carrying amounts. 

The cost of constructed non-financial physical assets includes the cost of all materials used in construction, 

direct labour on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.The cost of a 

leasehold improvement is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of 

the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvements. 

The initial cost for non-financial physical assets under finance lease (refer to Note 6.1) is measured at 

amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease 

payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. 

Theoretical opportunities that may be available in relation to the asset(s) are not taken into account until it 

is virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, the 

current use of these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best uses. 

Land and buildings are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. 

 

Revaluations of Non-Current Physical Assets 

Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value and are revalued in accordance with FRD 103H Non-

Current Physical Assets.  This revaluation process normally occurs every five years, based upon the asset's 

Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair value assessments indicate 

material changes in values. Independent valuers are used to conduct these scheduled revaluations and any 

interim revaluations are determined in accordance with the requirements of the FRDs. Revaluation 

increments or decrements arise from differences between an asset’s carrying value and fair value. 

Revaluation increments are recognised in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ and are credited directly to the 

asset revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in 

respect of that same class of asset previously recognised as an expense in net result, the increment is 

recognised as income in the net result. 

Revaluation decrements are recognised in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ to the extent that a credit balance 

exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of property, plant and equipment. 

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within an asset class are offset 

against one another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes.  

Revaluation surplus is not transferred to accumulated funds on de-recognition of the relevant asset, except 

where an asset is transferred via contributed capital. 

In accordance with FRD 103H, Tweddles non-current physical assets were assessed to determine whether 

revaluation of the non-current physical assets was required. 

Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Tweddle has determined classes of assets on the basis of the 

nature, characteristics and risks of the asset and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 
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Note 4.2: Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 

In addition, Tweddle determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by 

reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Tweddles independent valuation agency. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Valuation hierarchy 

In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in the 

financial statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value hierarchy. 

The levels are as follows:  

• Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  

• Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and  

• Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable.  

Identifying unobservable inputs (level 3) fair value measurements 

Level 3 fair value inputs are unobservable valuation inputs for an asset or liability. These inputs require 

significant judgement and assumptions in deriving fair value for both financial and non-financial assets. 

Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not 

available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or 

liability at the measurement date. However, the fair value measurement objective remains the same, i.e., 

an exit price at the measurement date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or 

owes the liability. Therefore, unobservable inputs shall reflect the assumptions that market participants 

would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk. 

Consideration of highest and best use (HBU) for non-financial physical assets 

Judgements about highest and best use must take into account the characteristics of the assets concerned, 

including restrictions on the use and disposal of assets arising from the asset’s physical nature and any 

applicable legislative/contractual arrangements. 

In accordance with paragraph AASB 13.29, Tweddle has assumed the current use of a non-financial physical 

asset is its HBU unless market or other factors suggest that a different use by market participants would 

maximise the value of the asset. 

Non-Specialised Land, Non-Specialised Buildings and Cultural Assets 

Non-specialised land, non-specialised buildings and cultural assets are valued using the market approach. 

Under this valuation method, the assets are compared to recent comparable sales or sales of comparable 

assets which are considered to have nominal or no added improvement value. 

For non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings, an independent valuation was performed by the 

Valuer-General Victoria to determine the fair value using the market approach. Valuation of the assets was 

determined by analysing comparable sales and allowing for share, size, topography, location and other 

relevant factors specific to the asset being valued. An appropriate rate per square metre has been applied to 

the subject asset. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2019. 

Specialised Land and Specialised Buildings 

Specialised land includes Crown Land which is measured at fair value with regard to the property’s highest 

and best use after due consideration is made for any legal or physical restrictions imposed on the asset, 

public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset. Theoretical 

opportunities that may be available in relation to the assets are not taken into account until it is virtually  
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Note 4.2: Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 

certain that any restrictions will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, the current use of 

these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best use. 

During the reporting period, Tweddle held Crown Land. The nature of this asset means that there are certain 

limitations and restrictions imposed on its use and/or disposal that may impact their fair value. 

The market approach is also used for specialised land although it is adjusted for the community service 

obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the assets being valued. Specialised assets contain 

significant, unobservable adjustments; therefore these assets are classified as Level 3 under the market 

based direct comparison approach. 

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with 

an asset to the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. This approach is in light of the 

highest and best use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the use of 

the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are 

considered as significant unobservable inputs, specialised land would be classified as Level 3 assets.  

For Tweddle’s, the depreciated replacement cost method is used for the majority of specialised buildings, 

adjusting for the associated depreciation. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant and 

unobservable inputs in nature, specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 for fair value measurements. 

An independent valuation of Tweddle’s specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by the 

Valuer-General Victoria. The valuation was performed using the market approach adjusted for CSO. The 

effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2019. 

Vehicles 

Tweddle acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before completion of their economic life. The 

process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed by Tweddle who set relevant depreciation 

rates during use to reflect the consumption of the vehicles. As a result, the fair value of vehicles does not 

differ materially from the carrying amount (depreciated cost). 

 

Plant and Equipment 

Plant and equipment (including medical equipment, computers and communication equipment and furniture 

and fittings) are held at carrying amount (depreciated cost). When plant and equipment is specialised in 

use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, the depreciated replacement cost is 

used to estimate the fair value. Unless there is market evidence that current replacement costs are 

significantly different from the original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely that depreciated 

replacement cost will be materially different from the existing carrying amount.  

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2020.  

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use. 
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Note 4.2: Property, Plant and Equipment

(a) Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation

 

2020 2019

$ $

Land

Crown 5,868,000       5,868,000       

Freehold 1,395,000       1,395,000       

TOTAL LAND AT FAIR VALUE 7,263,000      7,263,000      

Buildings Under Construction -                       -                       

Buildings at cost 6,152,276       6,025,000       

Less accumulated depreciation (89,058)          -                   

Building work in progress at cost 1,093             32,941            

TOTAL BUILDINGS 6,064,311      6,057,941      

Plant and equipment at fair value 545,110          435,534          

Less accumulated depreciation (360,114)         (337,209)         

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 184,996          98,325            

Motor vehicles at fair value 51,223            51,223            

Less accumulated depreciation (51,223)          (33,027)          

TOTAL MOTOR VEHICLES -                       18,196            

Computers and communication equipment at fair value 484,749          408,066          

Less accumulated depreciation (346,282)         (313,476)         

TOTAL COMPUTERS AND COMMUNICATION EQUIPMENT 138,467          94,590            

Furniture and fittings at fair value 289,819          275,976          

Less accumulated depreciation (218,803)         (209,185)         

TOTAL FURNITURE AND FITTINGS 71,016            66,791            

-                       

Leased Motor Vehicles 82,200            82,200            

Less accumulated depreciation (17,728)          (5,214)            

TOTAL LEASED MOTOR VEHICLES 64,472            76,986            

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13,786,262    13,675,829    
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Note 4.2: Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

 

 Note

Land Buildings Plant & 

Equipment

Motor 

vehicles

Computers & 

Comm 

Equipment

Furniture & 

Fittings

Leased 

Assets

Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2018 6,295,447   2,956,345   75,502         81,488         67,227         47,240         -                   9,523,250     

Additions -                153,166       42,239         2,333          54,825         28,683         82,200         363,446         

Disposals -                -                -                (27,981)        -                -                -                (27,981)         

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 967,553       3,029,184    -                -                -                -                -                3,996,737      

Depreciation 4.4 -                (80,755)       (19,416)        (37,644)        (27,462)        (9,132)         (5,214)         (179,623)        

Balance at 30 June 2019 4.2 (a) 7,263,000   6,057,941   98,325         18,196         94,590         66,791         76,986         13,675,829   

Additions -                95,428         109,576       -                76,683         13,844         -                295,530         

Disposals -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                  

Assets provided free of charge -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                  

Revaluation increments/(decrements) -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                  

Net Transfers between classes -                  

Depreciation 4.4 -                (89,058)       (22,905)        (18,196)        (32,806)        (9,619)         (12,514)        (185,097)        

Balance at 30 June 2020 4.2 (a) 7,263,000   6,064,311   184,996      0                   138,467      71,016         64,472         13,786,262   

(b) Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of asset 
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Note 4.2: Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 

Land and buildings carried at valuation 

The VGV re-valued all of Tweddle’s land and buildings to determine their fair value. The valuation, which conforms 

to Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to the amounts for which assets could be 

exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction. The valuation was based on 

independent assessments. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2019.  

In compliance with FRD 103H, in the year ended 30 June 2020, management conducted an annual assessment of 

the fair value of land and buildings. To facilitate this, management obtained from the Department of Treasury and 

Finance the VGV indices for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.  

The VGV indices, which are based on data to March 2020, indicated there was an average increase of 6.0% in the 

land parcel held by Tweddle, and an increase of 2.5% in buildings. Management regards the VGV indices to be a 

reliable and relevant data set to form the basis of their estimates. Whilst these indices are applicable at 30 June 

2020, the fair value of land and buildings will continue to be subjected to the impacts of COVID-19 in future 

accounting periods.    

As the accumulative movement was less than 10% for land and buildings no managerial revaluation was required.  

The land and building balances are considered to be sensitive to market conditions. To trigger a managerial 

revaluation, a decrease in the land indice of 16.0% and a decrease in the building indice of up to 12.5% would be 

required. 
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Note 4.2: Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets 

Note Level 1 i Level 2 i Level 3 i

Balance at 30 June 2020 $ $ $ $

Crown land at fair value 5,868,000       -                 -                  5,868,000       

Freehold land at fair value 1,395,000       -                 1,395,000       -                   

Total Land at Fair Value 4.2 (a) 7,263,000     -                    1,395,000     5,868,000      

- Specialised Buildings 5,865,000       -                    -                  5,865,000       

- Non-Specialised buildings 199,311         -                 199,311         -                   

Total Building at Fair Value 4.2 (a) 6,064,311     -                    199,311         -                      

Plant and equipment at fair value 4.2 (a) 184,996         -                 -                  184,996         

Motor vehicles at fair value 4.2 (a) -                  -                 -                  -                   

Computers and communication equipment at fair value 4.2 (a) 138,467         -                 -                  138,467         

Furniture and fittings at fair value 4.2 (a) 71,016           -                 -                  71,016           

Total Other Plant and Equipment at Fair Value 394,478         -                    -                      394,478         

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 13,721,789   -                    1,594,311     6,262,478      

Level 1 i Level 2 i Level 3 i

Balance at 30 June 2019 $ $ $ $

Crown land at fair value 5,868,000       -                 -                  5,868,000       

Freehold land at fair value 1,395,000       -                 1,395,000       -                   

Total Land at Fair Value 4.2 (a) 7,263,000     -                    1,395,000     5,868,000      

- Specialised Buildings 5,865,000       -                    -                  5,865,000       

- Non-Specialised buildings 192,941         -                 192,941         -                   

Total Building at Fair Value 4.2 (a) 6,057,941     -                    192,941         5,865,000      

Plant and equipment at fair value 4.2 (a) 98,325           -                 -                  98,325           

Motor vehicles at fair value 4.2 (a) 18,196           -                 -                  18,196           

Computers and communication equipment at fair value 4.2 (a) 94,590           -                 -                  94,590           

Furniture and fittings at fair value 4.2 (a) 66,791           -                 -                  66,791           

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 13,598,844   
-                    

1,587,941     12,010,903   

i Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.

ii There have been no transfers between levels during the period. In the prior year, there is a transfer between non-specialised land and 

specialised land to reflect the correct fair value as per the managerial revaluation in 2019.

Total Carrying 

Amount 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 

period using:

Consolidated  

Carrying 

Amount 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 

period using:
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Note 4.2: Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value i

 

 

Consolidated Note $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2018 4.2 (b) 5,087,799   2,956,346   75,502        81,488        67,227        47,240        

Additions/(Disposals) 4.2 (b) -                  153,166        42,239         (25,648)        54,825         28,683         

Assets provided free of charge -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

Gains/(Losses) recognised in net result -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

- Depreciation and amortisation 4.4 -                  (80,755)        (19,416)        (37,644)        (27,462)        (9,132)          

Items recognised in other comprehensive income -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

- Revaluation 780,201        2,836,243     -                  -                  -                  -                  

Balance at 30 June 2019 4.2 (c) 5,868,000   5,865,000   98,325        18,196        94,590        66,791        

Additions/(Disposals) 4.2 (b) -                  -                  109,576        -                  76,683         13,844         

Assets provided free of charge -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

Net Transfers between classes 4.2 (b) -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

Gains/(Losses) recognised in net result -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

- Depreciation and Amortisation 4.4 -                  -                  (22,905)        (18,196)        (32,806)        (9,619)          

- Impairment loss -                  -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Items recognised in other comprehensive income -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

- Revaluation -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

Balance at 30 June 2020 4.2 (c) 5,868,000   5,865,000   184,996      -                 138,467      71,016        

i  Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, refer Note 4.2(c).

Land

Computers 

& Comm 

Equipment

Furniture & 

Fittings

Motor 

VehiclesBuildings

Plant & 

Equipment

Note 4.2 (e): Property, Plant and Equipment (Fair value determination)

Asset class Likely valuation approach
Significant inputs (Level 3 

only)(c) 

Non‑specialised land Market approach      n.a.

Specialised land (Crown/freehold) Market approach
Community Service 

Obligations Adjustments (i)

Non-specialised buildings Market approach      n.a.

- Cost per  square metre

- Useful life

Market approach      n.a.

- Cost per unit

- Useful life

- Cost per  unit

- Useful life

i CSO adjustment of 10-20% was applied to reduce the market approach value for Tweddle's specialised Land

Plant and equipment Depreciated replacement cost approach

Vehicles
Depreciated replacement cost approach

Specialised buildings Depreciated replacement cost approach
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Note 4.2: Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
Note 4.2 (f): Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus

2020 2019

Note $ $

 

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 10,241,601     6,244,864       

Transfer to accumulated deficits

 - Land -               -                   

Revaluation Increment

 - Land 4.2 (b) -               967,553         

 - Buildings 4.2 (b) -               3,029,184       

Balance at the end of the Reporting Period* 10,241,601   10,241,601   

* Represented by: 

 - Land 1,801,958      1,801,958       

 - Buildings 8,439,643      8,439,643       

10,241,601   10,241,601   
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Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance such as computer 

software. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried 

at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  Costs incurred subsequent to initial 

acquisition are capitalised when it is expected that additional future economic benefits will flow to Tweddle. 

Note 4.3: Intangible Assets

(a) Intangible assets - Gross carrying amount and accumulated amortisation

2020 2019

$ $

Intangible Produced Assets - Software 618,664       561,339       

Less Accumulated Amortisation (494,595)     (454,433)     

124,069      106,906      

TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS        124,069        106,906 

(b) Intangible assets - Reconciliation of the carrying amount by class of asset:

Software Total

Consolidated Note $ $

Balance at 1 July 2018 79,297        79,297        

Additions 61,278        61,278        

Disposals -                -                   

Classified as held for sale -                -                   

Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) in net result -                -                   

Amortisation 4.4 (33,669)       (33,669)       

Balance at 1 July 2019 106,906      106,906      

Additions 57,325        57,325        

Disposals -                -                

Classified as held for sale -                -                

Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) in net result -                -                

Net Transfers between classes -                -                

Amortisation 4.4 (40,162)       (40,162)       

Balance at 30 June 2020 124,069      124,069      
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 Depreciation 

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets (excluding items 

under operating leases, assets held for sale, land and investment properties) that have finite useful lives are 

depreciated. Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value, 

less any estimated residual value over its estimated useful life 

 

As part of the building’s valuation, building values were separated into components and each component assessed 

for its useful life which is represented above. 

Amortisation 

Amortisation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life. 

 

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which the depreciation charges are 

based. 

 

(a) Useful life of non-current assets 

 

 2020 and 2019 

Buildings Up to 40 years 

Plant & Equipment 5 to 10 years 

Computers and Communication Equipment 3 years 

Furniture and Fitting 5 to 10 years 

Motor Vehicles 3 to 5 years 

Computer Software 3 to 5 years 

 

 

Note 4.4: Depreciation and Amortisation

 2020 2019

$ $

Depreciation

Buildings 89,058         80,755         

Plant and equipment 22,905         19,416         

Motor vehicles 18,196         37,644         

Medical equipment -                 -                

Computers and communication equipment 32,806         27,462         

Furniture and fittings 9,619           9,132          

Leased assets 12,514         5,214          

Total  Depreciation 185,097       179,623      

Amortisation

Software 40,162         33,669         

Other -                 

Total Amortisation 40,162         33,669        

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 225,259       213,292      
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Note 5: Other Assets and Liabilities 

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Tweddle’s operations. 
 

Structure 
5.1 Receivables 
5.2 Payables 
 

 

 

Receivables consist of: 

• Contractual receivables, which consists of debtors in relation to goods and services and accrued 

investment income. These receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as ‘financial assets at 

amortised costs. They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Tweddle 

holds the contractual receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  

• Statutory receivables, which predominantly includes amounts owing from the Victorian Government and 

Goods and Services Tax (GST) input tax credits recoverable. Statutory receivables do not arise from contracts and 

are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment) but are not classified as 

financial instruments for disclosure purposes. Tweddle applies AASB 9 for initial measurement of the statutory 

receivables and as a result statutory receivable are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 

transaction cost. 

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days from the date of 

recognition.  

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, 

professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, averages and other computational 

methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. 

Tweddle is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 

counterparties having similar characteristics. Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers in various 

geographical areas. Based on historical information about customer default rates, management consider the credit 

quality of trade receivables that are not past due or impaired to be good. 

 

 

Note 5.1: Receivables

 2020 2019

 $ $

CURRENT

Contractual

Inter Hospital Debtors -                  

Trade Debtors 59,961          175,204         

Total Contractual Receivables 59,961          175,204         

Statutory

Accrued Revenue - Department of Health and Human Services 21,023          -                  

GST Receivable 9,132            20,809           

Total Statutory Receivables 30,155          20,809           

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 90,116          196,013         
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Payables consist of: 

• Contractual payables classified as financial instruments and measured at amortised cost. Accounts payable 

and salaries and wages payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Tweddle prior to the end of 

the financial year that are unpaid; and arise when Tweddle becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of 

the purchase of those goods and services 

 

• Statutory payables, that are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not 

classified as financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because 

they do not arise from contracts. 

The normal credit terms for accounts payable are usually Nett 60 days. In line with the State Government’s 

supplier payment policy, instituted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Tweddle's credit terms were five 

business days from 1 April to 30 June. 

 

 

 

Maturity analysis of payables - Please refer to Note 7.1 (b) for the ageing analysis of payables 

 

 

 

 

Note 5.2: Payables

 2020 2019

 $ $

CURRENT Notes

Contractual

Trade creditors 63,941          114,134          

Accrued salaries and wages -                  -                   

Accrued expenses 199,667        110,129          

Amounts payable to ATO 72,800          75,356            

Contract Liabilities - income received in advance 5.2(a) 171,326        169,554          

507,734        469,173          

NON-CURRENT

GST Payable 7,066            11,419            

TOTAL NON-CURRENT PAYABLES 7,066            11,419            

TOTAL PAYABLES 514,800        480,592          

Note 5.2 (a) Contract liabilities 
   2020

$'000

Opening balance brought forward from 30 June 2019 adjusted for AASB 15  169,554        

Add: Payments received for performance obligations yet to be completed during 

the period
171,326        

Less: Revenue recognised in the reporting period for the completion of a 

performance obligation 
(169,554)       

Total contract liabilities  171,326

Represented by      

Current contract liabilities  171,326

Non-current contract liabilities  -                  
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Note 6: How we finance our operations  

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by Tweddle during its operations, 
along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other information related to financing activities 

of the health service. 
 
This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and cash 
balances).  Note: 7.1 provides additional, specific financial instrument disclosures. 
 
Structure 
6.1 Borrowings 

6.2 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 

 

Maturity analysis of borrowings 

Please refer to Note 7.1(b) for the ageing analysis of borrowings. 

 

Defaults and breaches 

During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any of the borrowings. 

 

Borrowings Recognition 

A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment. Leases are classified at 

their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the agreement so as to 

reflect the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 

 

 

 

 

 

Note 6.1: Borrowings

Consolidated Consolidated 

 2020 2019

 $'000 $'000

CURRENT

Lease liability (i) 12,680          12,275          

Total Current  Borrowings 12,680          12,275          

NON CURRENT

Lease liability (i) 52,250          64,927          

Total Non Current Borrowings 52,250          64,927          

Total Borrowings 64,930          77,202          

(i) The weighted average interest rate implicit in the finance lease is 3.25% (2019: 3.25%).



Tweddle Child and Family Health Service 
Notes to the financial statements 

30 June 2020 

 

36 
 

Note 6.1: Borrowings (continued) 

 

Leases 

AASB 16 - Leases (Right of Use)  

From 1 July 2019, Tweddle adopted AASB 16 – Leases. The transition required all leases to be recognised by 

Tweddle (as lessee) on the balance sheet by recording a Right-Of-Use (ROU) asset and a lease liability except for 

leases that are shorter than 12 months and leases where the underlying asset is of low value (deemed to be below 

$10,000).  

Tweddle is not a lessee in any lease arrangements and, therefore, there has been no recognition of ROU assets at 

30 June 2020.  

Leasing activities  

Tweddle have entered into lease related to the supply of fleet vehicles through The Department of Treasury and 

Finance (VicFleet). 

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 July 2019, Tweddle considers whether a contract is, or contains a 

lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying 

asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition Tweddle assesses whether the 

contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:   

 the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly 

specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to Tweddle and for which the supplier 

does not have substantive substitution rights;   

 Tweddle has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset 

throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract and Tweddle 

Child and Family Health Service has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period 

of use;  and 

 Tweddle has the right to take decisions in respect of ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is 

used throughout the period of use.  

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on or after 1 July 2019.  

 

Lease Liabilities

Repayments in relation to leases are payable as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019

$ $ $ $

Not later than one year 14,602          14,602          12,680      12,275      

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 53,179          67,779          52,250      64,927      

Later than 5 years -                  -                 -              -              

Minimum lease payments 67,781          82,381          64,930     77,202     

Less future finance charges (2,851)          (5,179)          -              -              

Total 64,930          77,202          64,930     77,202     

Included in the financial statements as:

Current borrowings - lease liability 12,680          12,275          12,680      12,275      

Non-current borrowings - lease liability 52,250          64,927          52,250      64,927      

Total Finance Lease Liability 64,930          77,202          64,930     77,202     

Minimum future lease 

payments

Present value of 

minimum future lease 

payments
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Note 6.1 Borrowings (Continued) 

Recognition and measurement of leases as a lessee (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019)  

Lease Liability – initial measurement  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at the commencement 

date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily determinable or Tweddle Child 

and Family Health Services incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:  

 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentive receivable;  

 variable payments based on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 

commencement date;  

 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and  

 payments arising from purchase and termination options reasonably certain to be exercised.  

Lease Liability – subsequent measurement  

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is 

remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in-substance fixed payments. 

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit 

and loss if the right of use asset is already reduced to zero. 

 

 

 

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and in banks, deposits at call 

and highly liquid investments (with an original maturity of three months or less), which are held for the purpose of 

meeting short term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes, which are readily convertible to 

known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts, which are 

included as liabilities on the balance sheet.  

 

 

 

Note 6.2: Cash and Cash Equivalents

 Total Total

2020 2019

$ $

Cash on hand - CBS 350              370              

Cash at Bank - CBS 361,682        791,904        

Cash held in Maquarie Porfolio 297,517        175,942        

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 659,549       968,216        
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Note 7: Risks, contingencies & valuation uncertainties 

Introduction 
 

Tweddle is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to 
make judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial 
statements. This section sets out financial instrument specific information, (including exposures to 
financial risks) as well as those items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement 
to be applied, which for the hospital is related mainly to fair value determination. 
 
Structure 

7.1 Financial instruments  
7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
 

 

Note 7.1: Financial Instruments  

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 

financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of Tweddles activities, certain financial 

assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and financial 

liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments Presentation. 

 

 

 

Note 7.1 (a): Financial Instruments Categorisation
Financial Assets 

at Amortised 

Cost

Financial Assets at 

Fair Value Through 

Net Result

Financial 

Liabilities at 

Amortised Cost

Total

2020 Note $ $ $ $

Contractual Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6.2 659,549            -                     -                 659,549         

Receivables - Trade Debtors 5.1 59,961             -                     -                 59,961           

Other Receivables -                  -                     -                 -               

Investments and Other Financial Assets - Term Deposits -                  -                     -                 -               

Investments and Other Financial Assets - Managed Investment Schemes 4.1 -                  1,514,785             -                 1,514,785       

Total Financial Assets i 719,510            1,514,785             -                    2,234,295      

Financial Liabilities

Payables 5.2 -                  -                     343,474           343,474         

Borrowings 6.1 -                  -                     64,930             64,930           

Total Financial Liabilities i -                     -                         408,404            408,404          

Financial Assets 

at Amortised 

Cost

Financial Assets at 

Fair Value Through 

Net Result

Financial 

Liabilities at 

Amortised Cost

Total

2019 $ $ $ $

Contractual Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6.2 968,216            -                     -                 968,216         

Receivables - Trade Debtors 5.1 175,204            -                     -                 175,204         

Other Receivables -                  -                     -                 -               

Investments and Other Financial Assets - Term Deposits -                  -                     -                 -               

Investments and Other Financial Assets - Managed Investment Schemes 4.1 -                  1,833,915             -                 1,833,915       

Total Financial Assets i 1,143,420         1,833,915             -                    2,977,335      

Financial Liabilities

Payables 5.2 -                  -                     393,817           393,817         

Borrowings 6.1 -                  -                     77,202             77,202           

Total Financial Liabilities i -                     -                         471,019            471,019          

i The carrying amount excludes statutory receivables (i.e. GST receivable and DHHS receivable) and statutory payables (DHHS payable).
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Note 7.1(a): Financial Instruments Categorisation (Continued) 

Categories of financial assets under AASB 9 

Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if both of the following criteria are met and the assets are not 

designated as fair value through net result: 

• the assets are held by Tweddle to collect the contractual cash flows, and 

• the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interests. 

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  

Tweddle recognises the following assets in this category: 

• cash and deposits; 

• receivables (excluding statutory receivables); 

• term deposits. 

 

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost    

Financial liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially measured at fair value 

plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments are 

measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value 

being recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement over the period of the interest-bearing liability. 

  

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include all of Tweddles contractual payables, deposits 

held and advances received, and interest-bearing arrangements other than those designated at fair value through 

the Comprehensive Operating Statement.    

Derecognition of financial assets: A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a 

group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 

expired. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability 
is discharged, cancelled or expires.  

Impairment of financial assets: At the end of each reporting period, Tweddle assesses whether there is 

objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, 

except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to annual review for impairment. 

The allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) 

financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality 
using estimates, averages and other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. 
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Contractual receivables at amortised cost 

Tweddle applies AASB 9 simplified approach for all contractual receivables to measure expected credit losses using 

a lifetime expected loss allowance based on the assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. 

Tweddle has grouped contractual receivables on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due and select the 

expected credit loss rate based on Tweddle’s past history, existing market conditions, as well as forward looking 

estimates at the end of the financial year.  

On this basis, the Tweddle determines the opening loss allowance on initial application date of AASB 9 and the 

closing loss allowance at end of the financial year as disclosed above. As explained above Tweddle has no cause to 

provide for loss allowance. 

Statutory receivables and debt investments at amortised cost 

Tweddle's non-contractual receivables arising from statutory requirements are not financial instruments. However, 

they are nevertheless recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 9 requirements as if those receivables 

are financial instruments. 

The statutory receivables are considered to have low credit risk, taking into account the counterparty’s credit 

rating, risk of default and capacity to meet contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. As a result, the loss 

allowance recognised for these financial assets during the period was limited to 12 months expected losses. 

 

Note 7.2: Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities  

Tweddle has nil contingencies to report for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019 nil). 

 

 

Note 7.1 (b): Payables and Borrowings Maturity Analysis

Note

Carrying 

Amount

Nominal 

Amount

Less than 

1 Month

1-3 

Months

3 months - 

1 Year

1-5 Years

2020 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial Liabilities at amortised cost

Payables (i) 
5.2 434,934      434,934   63,941     199,666   171,326   -             

Borrowings 6.1 64,930        64,930     12,681     52,247    

Total Financial Liabilities 499,864    499,864 63,941   199,666 184,007 52,247   

2019

Financial Liabilities at amortised cost

Payables (i) 
5.2 393,817      393,817   224,262   70,209     99,346     -             

Borrowings 6.1 77,202        77,202     -              3,069       9,206       64,927    

Total Financial Liabilities 471,019    471,019 224,262 73,278   108,552 64,927   

(i) Ageing analysis of financial liabilities excludes statutory financial liabilities (i.e GST payable)

Maturity analysis of Financial Liabilities as at 30 June

Maturity Dates

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for Tweddle's financial liabilities. For interest rates 

applicable to each class of liability refer to individual notes to the financial statements.
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Note 8: Other disclosures  

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for 
the understanding of this financial report. 

 
Structure 
8.1 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash flow from operating activities 
8.2 Responsible persons  
8.3 Remuneration of Executives Officers 
8.4 Related parties 
8.5 Remuneration of auditors 

8.6 Events occurring after the balance sheet date 
8.7 Economic dependency  
8.8 Changes in accounting policies 
8.9 AASBs issued that are not yet effective 
8.10 Glossary of terms and style conventions 
 

 

 

 2020 2019

 $ $

Net Result for the Year
(892,374)       156,549        

Non-Cash Movements:

Depreciation 199,080        179,623        

Amortisation of Intangible Non-Produced Assets 40,162          33,669          

Net (gain)/loss on Financial Instruments at fair value 95,351          (34,569)        

Movements in Assets and Liabilities:

(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables 105,898        (68,608)        

(Increase)/Decrease in Prepayments 9,719            (30,567)        

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables 34,208          (109,855)       

Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 240,638        96,490          

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (167,319)      222,732       

Note 8.1: Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net 

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
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Note 8.2: Responsible Persons

 

Governing Board

Dr T Nguyen

Ms R Flynn

Dr L Beagley

Ms M Telford 

Ms C De Campo

Ms K Angelopoulos

Dr R Khillan

Ms J Lang

Ms A Vickery

Mr A Jaworski

Dr C Van Vliet

Accountable Officers

Ms J O'Brien (Chief Executive Officer)

Remuneration of Responsible Persons

The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands:

2020 2019

Income Band No. No.

$0 - $9,999 12                12               

$170,000 - 179,999 1                 1                 

Total Numbers 13                  13                  

2020 2019

$ $

$256,490 $178,518     

Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services' Financial Report.

Ms D Whitmore (Chair of the Board)

 

08/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

The Honourable Luke Donnellan, Minister for Child Protection, Minister for Disability, Ageing 

and Carers

08/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

01/07/2019 - 29/02/2020

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

08/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Mental Health 01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

The Honourable Jenny Mikakos, Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services

Period

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 , 

the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Responsible 

Persons from the reporting entity amounted to:

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020
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Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided in exchange for 

services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories: 

Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries and wages, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-

monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.  

Post-employment Benefits 

Pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when employment has ceased.  

Other Long-term Benefits 

Long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred compensation.  

Termination Benefits 

Termination of employment payments, such as severance packages.  

 

 

 

 

Note 8.3: Remuneration of Executive Officers

 
Remuneration of Executive Officers

(Including Key Management Personnel Disclosed in Note 8.4)

2020 2019

$ $

Short-term Benefits 273,283       223,874       

Post-employment Benefits 25,677        20,988        

Other Long-term Benefits                -  7,254          

Total Remuneration (i) 298,960      252,116      

Total Number of Executives 2                3                

Total Annualised Employee Equivalent  (ii) 2.0             1.8             

The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total 

remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee 

equivalent provides a measure of full time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period. All 

Executive Officers are considered to be Key Management Personnel of Tweddle and are therefore 

including in note 8.4 below

i The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key 

Management Personnel (KMP) of Tweddle under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures  and are also 

reported within Note 8.4 Related Parties. 

ii Annualised employee equivalent is based on working 38 ordinary hours per week over the reporting 

Total Remuneration
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Note 8.4: Related parties 

Tweddle is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of the health service 

include: 

 all key management personnel and their close family members; 

 all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and 

 all hospitals and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the State of Victoria 

consolidated financial statements. 

KMP’s are those people with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 

Tweddle directly or indirectly. 

The board of Directors and the Executive Directors of Tweddle are deemed to be the KMP’s. 
 

Key Management 

Personnel Position title 

Ms Jacquie O’Brien Chief Executive Officer 

Ms Kirsty Evans Director Nursing / Clinical Services 

Mr Vince Di Stefano Director Corporate Services 

Ms Doris Whitmore  Director 

Dr Tam Nguyen Director 

Ms Rosalie Flynn Director 

Dr Leanne Beagley  Director 

Ms Melanie Telford  Director 

Ms Carla De Campo Director 

Ms Katerina Angelopoulos Director 

Dr Raj Khillan Director 

Ms Jenny Lang Director 

Ms Annette Vickery Director 

Dr Catherine Van Vliet Director 

Mr Andrew Jaworski Director 

  

The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Ministers receive. The 

Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968, and 

is reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services Financial Report. 

 

Compensation 
 

2020 
 

2019  
 

Short term employee benefits 512,582 382,497 

Post-employment benefits 42,869 33,988 

Other long-term benefits   14,149 

Total 555,451 430,634 

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties 

Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public 

sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and 

charges. Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions 

consistent with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian 
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Note 8.4: Related parties (Continued) 

Public Sector Commission. Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian 

Government Procurement Board requirements. 

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the department, there were no related party transactions that 

involved key management personnel and their close family members. No provision has been required, nor any 

expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties.  

There were no related party transactions required to be disclosed with cabinet ministers for 2020. 

There were no related party transactions required to be disclosed for Tweddle Board of Directors, Chief Executive 

Officer and Executive Directors in 2020. 

Significant transactions with government-related entities 

Tweddle received funding from the Department of Health and Human Services of $5,648,080 (2019: $5,478,273). 

A deposit was also held with the Central Banking System (CBS) during the year.  Interest received from the 

deposits held with CBS amounted to $5,508. 

Expenses incurred by the Tweddle Child and Family Health Service in delivering services and outputs are in 

accordance with Health Purchasing Victoria requirements.  

Professional medical indemnity insurance and other insurance products are obtained from the Victorian Managed 

Insurance Authority.  

The Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer require Tweddle to hold cash (in excess of working capital) in 

accordance with the State’s centralised banking arrangements. All borrowings are required to be sourced from 

Treasury Corporation Victoria unless an exemption has been approved by the Minister for Health and Human 

Services and the Treasurer 

 

 

Note 8.6:  Ex-Gratia Payments 

There are no ex-gratia payment to report 

Note 8.7: Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date 

The COVID-19 pandemic has created unprecedented economic uncertainty. Actual economic events and conditions 

in the future may be materially different from those estimated by Tweddle at the reporting date.  

As responses by government from the state of emergency disaster continue to evolve, management recognises 

that it is difficult to reliably estimate with any degree of certainty the potential impact of the pandemic after the 

reporting date on Tweddle, its operations, its future results and financial position. The state of emergency and state 

of disaster in Victoria was extended on 11 October 2020 until 8 November 2020. No other matters or circumstances 

have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may affect the operations of Tweddle, 

the results of the operations or the state of affairs of Tweddle in the future financial years. 

   

Note 8.5: Remuneration of Auditors

 2020 2019

 $ $

Victorian Auditor-General's Office

Audit of the Financial Statements 9,000                9,000                

TOTAL RENUMERATION OF AUDITORS 9,000                  9,000                  
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Note 8.8: Economic Dependency 

Tweddle is dependent on the Department of Health and Human Services for the majority of its revenue used to 

operate the entity. At the date of this report, Board of Directors has no reason to believe the Department of Health 

and Human Services will not continue to support Tweddle Child and Family Health Service. Tweddle will continue to 

closely monitor and control its financial and operational performance to identify efficiencies and revenue generating 

opportunities that provide for effective and efficient service delivery. 

   

Note 8.9:  Changes in accounting policy 

Changes in accounting policy  

Transitional impact on financial statements 

The following AASBs become effective for reporting periods commencing after 1 July 2019:  

• AASB 16 Leases;  

• AASB 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers; and  

• AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities. 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

In accordance with FRD 121 requirements, Tweddle has applied the transitional provision of AASB 15, 

under modified retrospective method with the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard 

against the opening retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Under this transition method, Tweddle applied 

this standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not ‘completed contracts’ at the date of initial 

application.  

Comparative information has not been restated.  

Note 2.1.1 – Sales of goods and services includes details about the transitional application of AASB 

15 and how the standard has been applied to revenue transactions.   

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 

In accordance with FRD 122 requirements, Tweddle has applied the transitional provision of AASB 

1058, under modified retrospective method with the cumulative effect of initially applying this 

standard against the opening retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Under this transition 

method, Tweddle applied this standard retrospectively only to contracts and transactions that are not 

completed contracts at the date of initial application.  

Comparative information has not been restated.  

Note 2.1.2 – Grants includes details about the transitional application of AASB 1058 and how the 

standard has been applied to revenue transactions.   

The adoption of AASB 1058 did not have an impact on Other comprehensive income and the 

Statement of Cash flows for the financial year.  

AASB 16 Leases 

Tweddle has adopted AASB 16 using the modified retrospective method from 1 July 2019 and 

therefore the comparative information for the year ended 30 June 2019 has not been restated and 

has been prepared in accordance with AASB 117 Leases and associated Accounting Interpretations.  

Tweddle is not a lessee in any lease arrangements and, therefore, there has been no material impact 

on adoption of AASB 16. 
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Note 8.10:  AASBs issued that are not yet effective 

Summary of New and Revised Accounting Pronouncements 

Certain new Australian accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2020 

reporting period. Department of Treasury and Finance assesses the impact of all these new standards and advises 

the Foundation of their applicability and early adoption where applicable. As at 30 June 2020, the following 

standards and interpretations had been issued by the AASB but were not yet effective. They become effective for 

the first financial statements for reporting periods commencing after the stated operative dates as detailed in the 

table below. Tweddle has not and does not intend to adopt these standards early. 

 
 

Standard/ Interpretation Summary 

Applicable for 

annual 

reporting 

periods 

beginning on 

Impact on public 

sector entity financial 

statements 

AASB 17 Insurance 

Contracts 

The new Australian standard seeks to 

eliminate inconsistencies and weaknesses 

in existing practices by providing a single 

principle-based framework to account for 

all types of insurance contracts, including 

reissuance contract that an insurer holds. 

It also provides requirements for 

presentation and disclosure to enhance 

comparability between entities. 

This standard currently does not apply to 

the not-for-profit public sector entities. 

1 January 2021 The assessment has 

indicated that there 

will be no significant 

impact for the public 

sector. 

AASB 2018-7 

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards – Definition of 

Material 

This Standard principally amends AASB 

101 Presentation of Financial Statements 

and AASB 108 Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and 

Errors. The amendments refine and clarify 

the definition of material in AASB 101 and 

its application by improving the wording 

and aligning the definition across AASB 

Standards and other publications. The 

amendments also include some 

supporting requirements in AASB 101 in 

the definition to give it more prominence 

and clarify the explanation accompanying 

the definition of material. 

1 January 2020 The standard is not 

expected to have a 

significant impact on 

the public sector. 

AASB 2020-1 

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards – 

Classification of 

Liabilities as Current or 

Non-Current  

This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify 

requirements for the presentation of 

liabilities in the statement of financial 

position as current or non-current. A 

liability is classified as non-current if an 

entity has the right at the end of the 

reporting period to defer settlement of 

the liability for at least 12 months after 

the reporting period. The meaning of 

settlement of a liability is also clarified. 

1 January 

2022. 

However, ED 

301 has been 

issued with the 

intention to 

defer 

application to 1 

January 2023. 

The standard is not 

expected to have a 

significant impact on 

the public sector. 
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Note 8.11:  Glossary of terms and style conventions  
 

Actuarial gains or losses on superannuation defined benefit plans 

Actuarial gains or losses are changes in the present value of the superannuation defined benefit liability resulting 

from 

(a) experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and 

what has actually occurred); and 

(b) the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. 

 

Amortisation 

Amortisation is the expense which results from the consumption, extraction or use over time of a non-produced 

physical or intangible asset.  

 

Associates 

Associates are all entities over which an entity has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a 

shareholding and voting rights of between 20 per cent and 50 per cent. 

 

Comprehensive result 

The net result of all items of income and expense recognised for the period. It is the aggregate of operating result 

and other comprehensive income. 

 

Commitments 

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from 

non-cancellable contractual or statutory sources. 

 

Current grants 

Amounts payable or receivable for current purposes for which no economic benefits of equal value are receivable 

or payable in return. 
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Note 8.11:  Glossary of terms and style conventions (Continued) 
 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced physical or 

intangible asset. This expense reduces the ‘net result for the year’. 

 

Effective interest method 

The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and of 

allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or, where appropriate, a 

shorter period 

 

Employee benefits expenses 

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits 

tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined benefits superannuation plans, and defined contribution 

superannuation plans. 

 

Financial asset 

A financial asset is any asset that is: 

(a) cash; 

(b) an equity instrument of another entity; 

(c) a contractual or statutory right: 

• to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or 

• to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions 

that are potentially favorable to the entity; or 

(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is: 

• a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number 

of the entity’s own equity instruments; or 

• a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of 

cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. 

 

Financial instrument 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 

equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not contractual (such as statutory 

receivables or payables that arise as a result of statutory requirements imposed by governments) are not financial 

instruments. 

 

Financial liability 

A financial liability is any liability that is: 

(a) A contractual obligation: 

(i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 

(ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions 

that are potentially unfavorable to the entity; or 
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(b) A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is: 

(i) a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number 

of the entity’s own equity instruments; or 

(ii) a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of 

cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose 

the entity’s own equity instruments do not include instruments that are themselves contracts for the future 

receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments. 

 

Financial statements 

A complete set of financial statements comprises: 

(a) Balance sheet as at the end of the period; 

 

 (b) Comprehensive operating statement for the period; 

(c) A statement of changes in equity for the period; 

(d) Cash flow statement for the period; 

(e) Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information; 

(f) Comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraph 38 of AASB 101 

Presentation of Financial Statements; and 

(g) A statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity applies an accounting 

policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it 

reclassifies items in its financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 41 of AASB 101. 

 

Grants and other transfers 

Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or 

labour to another unit without receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can either be operating or 

capital in nature. 

 

While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or services to the 

transferor, they do not give the transferor a claim to receive directly benefits of approximately 

equal value. For this reason, grants are referred to by the AASB as involuntary transfers and are termed non-

reciprocal transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately equal value may occur, but only by coincidence. For 

example, governments are not obliged to provide commensurate benefits, in the form of goods or services, to  

particular taxpayers in return for their taxes. Grants can be paid as general-purpose grants which refer to grants 

that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants 

which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use. 

 

General government sector 

The general government sector comprises all government departments, offices and other bodies 

engaged in providing services free of charge or at prices significantly below their cost of 

production. General government services include those which are mainly non-market in nature, 

those which are largely for collective consumption by the community and those which involve the transfer or 

redistribution of income. These services are financed mainly through taxes, or other compulsory levies and user 

charges. 

 

Intangible produced assets 

Refer to produced assets in this glossary. 
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Intangible non-produced assets 

Refer to non-produced asset in this glossary. 

 

Interest expense 

Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds includes interest on bank overdrafts 

and short-term and long-term liabilities, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to 

liabilities, interest component of finance leases repayments, and the increase in financial 

liabilities and non-employee provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect the passage of time. 

 

Interest income 

Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on financial assets and interest 

received on bank term deposits and other investments. 

 

Investment properties 

Investment properties represent properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment 

properties exclude properties held to meet service delivery objectives of the State of Victoria. 

 

Liabilities 

Liabilities refers to interest-bearing liabilities mainly raised from public liabilities raised 

through the Treasury Corporation of Victoria, finance leases and other interest-bearing 

arrangements. Liabilities also include non-interest-bearing advances from government that are acquired for policy 

purposes. 

 

Net acquisition of non-financial assets (from transactions) 

Purchases (and other acquisitions) of non-financial assets less sales (or disposals) of non-financial assets less 

depreciation plus changes in inventories and other movements in non-financial assets. It includes only those 

increases or decreases in non-financial assets resulting from transactions and therefore excludes write-offs, 

impairment write-downs and revaluations. 

 

Net result 

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net 

result of items of income, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, 

excluding those that are classified as ‘other comprehensive income’. 

Net result from transactions/net operating balance Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key 

fiscal aggregate and is income from transactions minus expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of 

the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from changes in price levels and 

other changes in the volume of assets.  

 

Net worth 

Assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth. 

 

Non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. It includes inventories, land, 

buildings, infrastructure, road networks, land under roads, plant and equipment, investment 

properties, cultural and heritage assets, intangible and biological assets. 

 

 



Tweddle Child and Family Health Service 
Notes to the financial statements 

30 June 2020 

 

52 
 

Note 8.11:  Glossary of terms and style conventions (Continued) 
 

Non-produced assets 

Non-produced assets are assets needed for production that have not themselves been produced. They include 

land, subsoil assets, and certain intangible assets. Non-produced intangibles are intangible assets needed for 

production that have not themselves been produced. They include constructs of society such as patents. 

 

Non-profit institution 

A legal or social entity that is created for the purpose of producing or distributing goods and 

services but is not permitted to be a source of income, profit or other financial gain for the units that establish, 

control or finance it. that establish, control or finance it 

 

Payables 

Includes short- and long-term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest payable. 

 

Produced assets 

Produced assets include buildings, plant and equipment, inventories, cultivated assets and certain intangible 

assets. Intangible produced assets may include computer software, motion picture films, and research and 

development costs (which does not include the startup costs associated with capital projects). 

 

Public financial corporation sector 

Public financial corporations (PFCs) are bodies primarily engaged in the provision of financial 

intermediation services or auxiliary financial services. They are able to incur financial liabilities on their own 

account (e.g. taking deposits, issuing securities or providing insurance services). 

Estimates are not published for the public financial corporation sector. 

 

Public non-financial corporation sector 

The public non-financial corporation (PNFC) sector comprises bodies mainly engaged in the 

production of goods and services (of a non-financial nature) for sale in the marketplace at prices that aim to 

recover most of the costs involved (e.g. water and port authorities). In general, PNFCs are legally distinguishable 

from the governments which own them. 

 

Receivables 

Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short- and long-term trade credit and 

accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes and interest receivable. 

 

Sales of goods and services 

Refers to income from the direct provision of goods and services and includes fees and charges 

for services rendered, sales of goods and services, fees from regulatory services and work done as an agent for 

private enterprises. It also includes rental income under operating leases and on produced assets such as buildings 

and entertainment but excludes rent income from the use of non-produced assets such as land. User charges 

includes sale of goods and services income. 

 

Supplies and services 

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, 

including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Department. 

 

Taxation income 

Taxation income represents income received from the State’s taxpayers and includes: 



Tweddle Child and Family Health Service 
Notes to the financial statements 

30 June 2020 

 

53 
 

Note 8.11:  Glossary of terms and style conventions (Continued) 
 

• payroll tax; land tax; duties levied principally on conveyances and land transfers; 

• gambling taxes levied mainly on private lotteries, electronic gaming machines, casino 

operations and racing; 

• insurance duty relating to compulsory third party, life and non-life policies; 

• insurance company contributions to fire brigades; 

• motor vehicle taxes, including registration fees and duty on registrations and transfers; 

• levies (including the environmental levy) on statutory corporations in other sectors of 

government; and 

• other taxes, including landfill levies, license and concession fees. 

• levies (including the environmental levy) on statutory corporations in other sectors of 

government; and 

• other taxes, including landfill levies, license and concession fees. 

 

Transactions 

Revised Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually 

an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows in an entity such as depreciation 

where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the 

service provided by the asset.  

 

Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be 

in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is 

cash.  

 

Style conventions 

 

Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and 

sums of components reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based on the 

underlying unrounded amounts. 

The notation used in the tables is as follows: 

 

zero, or rounded to zero 

(xxx.x) negative numbers 

201x year period 

201x-1x year period 




	Tweddle Annual General Meeting 24 February 2021 - Agenda
	Min Annual General Meeting 2018-2019 (1)
	Tweddle Child and Family Health combined  Annual Reports 2020
	TW_Annual Report_2019-20 FA
	Tweddle Financial Report 30 June 2020 (VAGO Signed)
	TW_financial front cover
	1. Annual Finance Report 2020 (updated 19.10.20)
	TW_financial back cover



